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SCOPE AND BOUNDARIES OF THIS INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT

This is the fourth integrated annual report produced by South African Coal Mining Holdings Limited (“SACMH”) 
which is being developed progressively and aims to present to stakeholders comprehensive and understandable 
information which will allow them to make an educated assessment of the Company’s economic, social and 
environmental performance.

Scope

• The Group’s majority shareholder, JSW Energy Limited (“JSW”), a company listed on the Indian Stock 
Exchanges, has sold 26% of its shareholding in the Company to Comogen Proprietary Limited, a historically 
disadvantaged South African company.

• The report has been prepared in compliance with the South African Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, the 
Listings Requirements of the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE), the South African Code for the Reporting 
of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves (SAMREC Code) and in line with the 
recommendations of the King Code and Report on Governance Principles for South Africa 2009 (King III).

• The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA) Financial Reporting Guides as issued by 
the Financial Reporting Standards Council, the JSE Listings Requirements and in the manner required by the 
South African Companies Act, No 71 of 2008. 

• The Group's key stakeholders include:
 – investors, shareholders, mining analysts and media;
 – customers;
 – employees;
 – regulatory authorities and bodies;
 – business partners;
 – the community; and
 – government.
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CHAIRMAN’S AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT 

Dear Stakeholders

Mr CP Tated was appointed as CEO and CFO of the Group during the year under review. Mr KG Harris was 
appointed Chief Executive Officer on 2 February 2015 and Mr CP Tated would retain the position of Chief Financial 
Officer. His Excellency K Ahsraff and Messrs MCH Dhlamini and JM Mokgokong were all appointed independent 
non-executive directors subsequent to the year-end. These new appointments have created a well-balanced 
board that complies with the regulatory requirements of King III and the JSE Listings Requirements.

JSW Energy Limted recognises South Africa’s opportunities and barriers to success which limit its competitiveness 
in the mining industry.

During the year under review the world economy has been uncertain and unpredictable resulting in very difficult 
trading conditions in all sectors of the mining industry. This coincided with a global coal price that has been at an 
all-time low.

Review of 12 months to 31 December 2014

During this period SACMH continued to keep costs as low as possible while waiting for improved coal trading 
conditions, pending issue of the Water Use Licence and re-commencement of operations.

Financial

• Mining Rights were impaired by R53.5 million (2013: R 115.3 Million) as a result of the decrease of the export 
price of thermal coal and also as a result of the anticipated increase in mining costs. Income from the lease of 
infrastructure and logistic assets enabled the Group to continue to operate as a going concern.

Production

• Operations remained under the “Care and Maintenance” programme which included securing assets and 
running the plant at regular intervals to ensure a return to production as soon as possible, complying with 
reporting to authorities as required by mining regulation and legislation and leasing out of assets to generate 
income.

• Further delays in the approval of the Umlabu Colliery’s Water Use Licence Application (“WULA”) resulted in the 
Group not being able to resume mining operations. 

• As part of the “Care and Maintenance” programme, the Group continued to keep costs as low as possible to 
ensure that the Group continued as a going concern and trying hard to maximise group’s revenue from rental 
of logistical assets. 

• The Group maintained its safety record during the period with no reportable incidents or fatalities.

Outlook for 2015

JSW has sold 26% of shareholding in SACMH to Comogen Proprietary Limited, a historically disadvantaged 
South African company that is 100% black owned and controlled, which introduces the necessary Broad-Based 
Black Economic Empowerment (B-BBEE) to comply with legislative requirements and expertise to unlock the 
value of the remaining reserves covered by the mining rights and the Group’s logistical assets.

While progress has been made with the Department of Water Affairs regarding outstanding approval of the WULA no 
commitment has been received for the approval of WULA. Consequently operations will remain suspended. 
The Group is making use of its logistical assets and expects to receive lease revenue during the period which will 
offset care and maintenance costs. The Group’s major shareholder, JSW, has committed to continue to support 
the group financially during the period.
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Appreciation

On behalf of your Company’s Board of Directors, we wish to convey our deep gratitude to you, our valued 
employees and shareholders, for your continued support and trust.

 

 

QMSM Mokoetle CP Tated
Chairman Chief Financial Officer

5 December 2015
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

QMSM Mokoetle, Independent Non-executive Chairman, MA Journalism

Mr Mokoetle was appointed to the Board as Independent Non-executive Director and Chairman in February 
2012. He has more than 30 years’ experience in senior management and executive director level in the media 
industry, with extensive operational knowledge in spearheading and leading multi-million Rand management 
projects.

KG Harris, Chief Executive Officer

Mr Harris was appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 2 February 2015, has a strong local and 
international strategic managerial background with companies such as the Nissan Motor Company, Metro Cash 
and Carry and OTI Mozambique.

CP Tated, Chief Financial Officer, BCom, Dipl. Accounting, CA(India)

Mr Tated was appointed Chief Financial Officer on 30 September 2014 and also held the role of Chief Executive 
Officer with the consent of the JSE, until Mr Harris was appointed to that position in February 2015. Mr Tated has 
in excess of 20 years’ experience in the power industry.

K Ashraff, Independent Non-executive Director, BSc Mathematics

His Excellency K Ashraff was appointed to the board on 31 January 2015. He is a Diplomat and Businessman, 
being Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Ashgroup, Swaziland. 

MCH Dhlamini, Independent Non-executive Director, CA  (Nigeria and Swaziland), MSc Finance 
(Economic Policy)

Mr Dhlamini was appointed to the Board of Directors on 18 May 2015 and as Chairman of the Audit Committee, 
has in excess of 30 years’ experience in the auditing and public finance sectors in several African Countries. 
Mr Dhlamini is a member of several professional associations and institutes including the Institutes of Chartered 
Accountants in Nigeria and Swaziland, South African Institute of Professional Accountants and the Institute of 
Directors, South Africa.

LR Mamba, non-executive director, BA, LLB

Mr Mamba was appointed to the board on 21 September 2015, as a representative of Comogen Proprietary 
Limited, a 26% shareholder of the Company. Mr Mamba has practised as an attorney for 23 years in Commercial 
and Civil Law. He is Senior Partner of L R Mamba and Associates, a director of a number of private companies 
and legal advisor to a number of parastatals in Swaziland.

PP Menon, Non-executive Director, CA India

Mr Menon was appointed to the Board as Non-executive Director in November 2011. He is the Vice-President 
and Chief Financial Officer of JSW Energy Limited, a company listed on the Mumbai Stock Exchange, India. He 
is an Associate Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and a graduate of the Institute of Cost 
and Works Accountants of India. He has 20 years’ experience in Project Finance, Corporate Finance, Mergers 
and Acquisitions, Treasury Management and Investor Relations. Prior to joining JSW Energy Limited, he worked 
for JSW Steel Limited.

JM Mokgokong, Independent Non-executive Director, BSc Applied Mechanics, MSc Structural 
Mechanics

Mr Mokgokong was appointed to the Board of Directors on 18 May 2015, has in excess of 30 years’ experience 
in the design and construction of a wide variety of structures, working with several well-known civil and structural 
contractors and consulting engineers. He is the founder of STCS Consulting Engineers, Swaziland of which he is 
the Managing Director.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is a public company listed on the JSE limited (“JSE”). The Board is aware that the Company does 
not currently meet all regulatory requirements and since the commencement of 2015, have taken steps to address 
the situation with a view to meeting these requirements.

The matters of non-compliance have been addressed with the JSE in monthly reports and action being taken to 
address issues of non-compliance.

Set out below is a schedule setting out areas in which the Group did not comply or only partially complied,  
explaining reasons and action being taken since the commencement of 2015 to address areas where the 
Company did not comply with the following standards recommended by King III and JSE Listings Requirements 
during the year under review. 

A 75 point checklist summaries SACMH’s compliance with the principles of King III can be found on the website: 
www.sacmh.co.za.

Requirement Comments
The Board has to ensure that the Group has 
an effective and independent audit committee

Up until May 2015, the audit committee consisted of two 
non-executive directors and the chairman of the board of the 
company. During the early part of 2015 changes were made to 
the composition of the board of directors and the audit committee 
now consists of three independent non-executive directors.

The Board should ensure that there is an 
effective risk-based internal audit

Operations are currently too small to employ an internal audit 
team.  Processes are monitored by management and the aid of 
the JSW internal audit team is available for use by the Group. 
The JSW team reviewed the internal procedures and processes 
and found them adequate after introduction of additional controls  
and processes.

The Board reports on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal controls

Management reviews, controls and reports to the board when 
improvements are required.  As a result of the closure of the 
operations very little activity is taking place and management 
oversight, reporting to the Board, is sufficient at this stage.

The Board has appointed the Chief Executive 
Officer and has established a framework for 
delegation of authority

The roles of CEO and CFO were combined with the approval 
of the JSE due to the care and maintenance of operations until 
Mr KG Harris was appointed to that position in February 2015.

The Board comprises a balance of power, 
with a majority of non-executive directors. The 
majority of non-executive directors are 
independent

New directors were appointed to the board during the first half 
of 2015 ensuring a balance of power.  Prior to that the board 
consisted of  one independent non-executive director, two 
non-executive directors and one executive director.  The Board 
Charter sets out the framework for the delegation of authority.

The evaluation of the Board, its committees 
and individual directors is performed annually

Due to changes which have occurred to the structure of the board 
over the past year no evaluation was conducted. An evaluation 
will be conducted in the latter part of 2015.

The Board delegates certain functions to well-
structured committees without abdicating its 
own responsibilities

The Board until early 2015 functioned with only an Audit and Risk 
and Social and Ethics Committee. In May 2015 the Remuneration 
and Nominations Committee was appointed and the Audit and 
Risk Committee was reconstituted.

The Board has ensured that the Company 
has an effective and independent audit 
committee

The Audit and Risk Committee was reconstituted in May 2015 
and will be evaluated in due course. See notes in respect of the 
Audit and Risk Committee in the Integrated Report.

The audit committee has ensured that a 
combined assurance model has been applied 
which provides a coordinated approach to all 
assurance activities

These activities will be implemented in full when the mine’s 
operations are recommenced. Until then risks are monitored by 
management and the board.

The audit committee should be responsible 
for overseeing the internal audit process

Due to the size of the operations, the need for internal audit will be 
requested from the JSW team where necessary.
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Requirement Comments
The audit committee is an integral component 
of the risk management process

The Audit and Risk Committee have included a review of risks with 
the management team in its annual plan for 2015. No assessment 
was carried out in 2014.

The Board has determined the levels of risk 
tolerance

Due to the limited scope of activity risks are limited but are 
monitored by management and discussed at board and 
management meetings.

The risk committee and/or audit committee 
has assisted the Board in carrying out its risk 
responsibilities

Due to the limited scope of activity, risks are limited. The 2015 
annual audit committee plan includes an assessment of the risks.

The Board has delegated to management 
the responsibility to design, implement and 
monitor the risk management plan

Management monitor risks and raise any concerns in management 
and board meetings. Once operations are resumed a proper 
monitoring plan will be implemented.

The Board has ensured that risk assessments 
are performed on a continual basis

Management monitor risk and raise any concerns at meetings.

The Board has ensured that frameworks and 
methodologies are implemented to increase the 
probability of anticipating unpredictable risks

Once operations are resumed the risk management activities will 
have to be re-assessed and introduced.

The Board has ensured that there are 
processes in place which enable complete, 
timely, relevant, accurate and accessible risk 
disclosure to stakeholders

All controls and processes were examined by the JSW internal 
audit team and were considered appropriate. Management 
monitor and will report any irregularities but no mining activity and 
few financial transactions, risks are limited.

The Board should ensure that there is an 
effective risk based internal audit plan, 
effective controls and risk management 
overseen by the audit committee.

No internal audit team has been appointed because of the size 
of operations at present. All controls were assessed by the JSW 
India internal audit team, controls and processes implement. A re-
assessment will be conducted once operations are resumed.

Sustainability reporting and disclosure should 
be integrated with the Company’s financial 
reporting and independently assured

This will be considered once integrated reporting has reached a 
mature state and operations are resumed.

Code of Ethics

SACMH is committed to operating in accordance with highest standards of professional and business ethics, by 
the development of a community of directors and employees with the highest ethical values. A Code of Ethics 
is included in standard operating procedures handed to all employees when induction training is carried out. 
No reports have been received of contraventions of the Code of Ethics, bearing in mind the Company currently 
employs six members of staff. Once operations are recommenced a Whistle Blowing facility will be outsourced 
and re-introduced.

Amongst the principles to which the directors, management and employees dedicated themselves are the following:

• compliance with legislative and regulatory provisions;
• the protection of human life by following safety, health and environmental practices;
• treating all employees and stakeholders with respect;
• not discriminating against any person;
• providing employees with equality of opportunity, based on merit;
• ensuring that the quality of life of stakeholders is maintained by seeking to improve, rather than adversely 

affect, the environment;
• upholding the integrity of all stakeholders;
• respecting the cultural background of stakeholders
• avoiding all potential conflicts of interest by being transparent in the declaration of all interests;
• only using company resources for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders; and
• providing all employees with the opportunity to grow and advance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE continued
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Compliance with these principles will be reported monthly to the Finance and Operations Committee and monitored 
by the Social and Ethics Committee.

Board composition

Details of the composition of the Board are set out on page 5 of this report.

• Independence
The Board believes that Messrs Ashraff, Dhlamini, Mokgokong and Mokoetle meet the requirements of 
independence set out in King III as they have no direct or indirect business association with the Group.

• Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate and distinct.

• Board Charter
The Board Charter setting out the roles and responsibilities of the Board as required by King III was submitted 
to the Board for review and approved at its first meeting in 2014. The charter provides for a clear definition 
of roles and responsibilities to ensure a balance of power and authority to ensure that no one director has 
unfettered powers of decision making.

• Retirement by rotation
SACMH’s Memorandum of Incorporation calls for one-third of the previously elected directors to retire by 
rotation at each annual general meeting. Mr QMSM Mokoetle is required to retire by rotation at the next annual 
general meeting but has not made himself available for re-election.

Directors appointed to the Board since the last Annual General Meeting hold office until the next Annual 
General Meeting and are required to retire and seek election and the Annual General Meeting should they so 
wish, as directors. Messrs K Ashraff, MCH Dhlamini, KG Harris, LR Mamba, JM Mokgokong and CP Tated are 
required to be re-elected at that meeting.

• Policy and procedures for appointment of the Board
The procedure for appointment of directors to meet a vacancy on the Board is as follows:

 – suitable candidates will be recommended by members of the Board, the Company’s sponsor, and/or the 
majority shareholder. Should nobody be identified in this matter, consideration will be given to approaching 
the Institute of Directors of South Africa to place an advertisement on its website;

 – interviews will be conducted by the Remuneration and Nominations Committee which will make a 
recommendation to the Board as to the most suitable candidates;

 – the Board will make the final decision as to appointments.

• Induction
Newly appointed directors receive a comprehensive induction pack relating to company legislation and 
regulations, corporate governance, financial and reporting documents, minutes and administrative matters. 
Visits to mining operations also form part of the induction process. Further ongoing training is recommended.

As part of Mr Tated’s induction, many discussions were held with the Company Secretary about what was 
required re-align the Board and Committees, particularly the Audit Committee, in order to meet the requirements 
of the legislation and regulation. The Company Secretary was also requested to prepare several papers setting 
out these requirements.

A more comprehensive process will be introduced during 2015.

• Assessment
An assessment of the Board of Directors will be carried out in early 2016 when the current Board of Directors 
have been acting as Directors for at least a year when it will be possible to make an assessment of the activities 
conducted.
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• Board committees
Terms of reference of all committees were updated and approved by the board in March 2014. During the 
year under review the Audit and Risk Committee consisted of two non-executive directors and the chairman 
of the board. The activities of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee were carried out by the board. 
New appointments to comply with legislative and regulatory requirements were made in May 2015.

Membership of the committees, following the appointments made in May 2015 is as follows:

 – Audit and Risk Committee
Members: MCH Dhlamini, (Chairman), K Ahsraff and JM Mokgokong

The Audit and Risk Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors.

 – Remuneration and Nomination Committee
Members: K Ahsraff (Chairman), MCH Dhlamini and JM Mokgokong

 – Social and Ethics Committee
Members: QMSM Mokoetle (Independent Non-executive Chairman), RP Hugo and CP  Tated.

Internal control and internal audit

The Group does not have a formal internal auditor but makes use of the services of JSW Energy’s internal audit 
resource from time to time.

Going concern

The Audit Committee and the Board annually consider the going concern status of the Company in the preparation 
of the year-end financial statements. See page 21 of the Directors’ Report.

Business rescue

It is not necessary to consider the implementation of Business Rescue proceedings of the Group at this stage as 
JSW has confirmed its continued financial support of the Group.

Dealings in securities and insider trading policy

Directors, prescribed officers, designated persons and employees are precluded from dealing in the 
Company’s shares.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is required to provide the members of the Board with guidance and advice regarding 
their responsibilities, duties and powers and to ensure that the Board is aware of all the legislation relevant to or 
affecting the affairs of the Group.    The Company Secretary is to ensure that the Group complies with all applicable 
legislation regarding the affairs of the Group, including the necessary recording of minutes, meetings of the Board, 
board committees and the shareholders of the Group.

The Board has confirmed that the Company Secretary does not serve as a director of the Board and is thus 
not influenced by the Board and is considered to have an arm’s length relationship with the Board. The Board 
is satisfied that the Company Secretary has the competence, qualifications and experience to fulfil the role of 
Company Secretary.

The reconstituted Remunerations and Nominations Committee will in future, as part of its annual plan, be tasked 
with assessing the experience and independence of the Company Secretary.

The experience and details of the Company Secretary are set out on page 24 of this report.
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Advice and information

Information provided to the Board and its committees is derived from external sources and internally from minutes, 
plans and reports. No restriction is placed on the accessing of information by directors from within the Company.

All directors are entitled to seek independent professional advice concerning the affairs of the Company, at its 
expense. A policy in respect of directors obtaining independent professional advice was tabled and adopted at 
the Board meeting in March 2012.

Annual General Meeting

The Notice of Annual General Meeting is set out on pages 63 to 65 of this report.

Sponsor

In compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements, Exchange Sponsors (2008) Proprietary Limited is the 
Company’s sponsor.
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Mine Works Programme

The Umlabu mining resource was re-evaluated towards the end of 2013 and an updated Resource and Reserve 
Statement has subsequently been prepared by Miptec Proprietary Limited and KJB GeoServices. A Competent 
Person’s Report was prepared in 2012 and as no mining activities have taken place since that date it is unnecessary 
to prepare a new report until such time as the mining activities are resumed. See page 57 for the 2014 Reserves 
and Resources Statement and details in respect of Miptec and KJB GeoServices. 

A copy of the Competent Person’s Report is available for inspection at the Company’s head office and on its 
website.

Labour Relations

While the Group’s Umlabu mine is on care and maintenance pending the approval of the Water Use License 
(“WUL”), two employees are managing the process at the mine.

Employment Equity

The Group fully subscribes to the principles of the Mining Charter and strives to achieve more than the minimum 
requirements. The Umlabu Colliery (“Umlabu”) believes that Employment Equity is an integral part of building 
an effective and representative workforce and to ensure equality for all employees. The Group has developed 
an Employment Equity Policy that ensures that HDSA employees, especially women, are developed in order to 
comply with the provisions of the Employment Equity Act (Act No 55 of 1998). 

Umlabu has submitted its Employment Equity report as required by the relevant act. 

The employment equity status of the Company for the year under review:

  Male Female  
  A C I W A C I W Total

Board: Non-executive 3   2           5
Board: Executive     1 1         2
Senior management       1         1
Professionally qualified and 
experienced specialists/mid-
management

      1       1 2

Skilled technical and academically 
qualified workers, junior 
management, supervisors and 
foremen

      2         2

Semi-skilled and discretionary 
decision making

                 

Unskilled                  

TOTAL 3   3 5       1 12

Environmental performance

The Water Use Licence application (“WULA”) for the new Voorslag mine (“Voorslag”) has been compiled and 
submitted to the Department of Water Affairs (“DWA”). To date, this had not been approved.

A rehabilitation programme had been formalised and historical backlog rehabilitation continues.

Broad-based Black Economic Empowerment 

A suitable B-BBEE partner has been identified and a formal agreement was finalised in  July 2015.
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Skills Development/Succession Planning

Skills development and succession planning of operational staff had been suspended. The replacement 
of members of the Board of Directors and staff essential to managing statutory, legislative requirements and 
managing the care and maintenance programme and pending the recommencement of operations, will be dealt 
with as when required.

Corporate Social Investment

Umlabu implemented various initiatives during the past two years using local entrepreneurs to provide services to 
the mine. These included:

• contractors were encouraged to employ only locals where possible 
• an on-mine laundry to launder all employees overalls at the end of each shift would be re-introduced once 

mining operations recommenced
• the tuck shop had been closed pending the re-introduction of mining operations
• a garden service was being provided by a local entrepreneur
• grazing land was being made available to local communities
• local community members were being invited to cut firewood on the mine for personal financial gain.
• water was made available to local communities
• housing was made available for occupation by local community members
• employment is offered to retrenched workers on an ad hoc basis.

Further initiatives will be identified with a view to the development of the local community on an on-going basis.

Preferential Procurement

All procurement was adjudicated through a balanced scorecard to ensure that previously disadvantaged and local 
community members obtained an equal opportunity to provide services to the Group. The local community and 
previously disadvantaged communities enjoy preferential treatment during the adjudication process.

HIV/AIDS

It is the Group’s policy that the ethical practices that govern all health/medical conditions in the employment 
context shall apply equally to HIV/AIDS in the workplace. There shall be no discrimination between employees with 
HIV/AIDS and other comparable life-threatening conditions.
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REMUNERATION REPORT

Role of Remuneration and Nominations Committee

The committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board, on the Group’s framework of executive 
remuneration and all staff at head office. The committee is responsible for ensuring that levels of remuneration 
are sufficient to attract and retain directors and senior management needed to run the Group successfully while 
maintaining shareholder value.

The Remuneration Policy and Practices which was adopted in March 2014 will be reviewed during 2015.

The policy governing the procedures for appointments to the Board is guided by the Memorandum of Incorporation 
and a Board appointment policy. All appointments to the Board are considered by the Board as a whole with the 
assistance of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee and the procedure will be formal and transparent.

Terms of Reference

The terms of reference were approved by the Board in March 2014. These terms of reference will be reviewed 
during 2015.

Service Contracts

All executive directors, prescribed officers and employees have employment contracts with stipulated notice 
periods of three months (executives) and one month (other employees), by either party. They only receive 
remuneration in terms of their employment relationship with the Company.

No agreements have been concluded with executive directors and prescribed officers for the payment of a fixed 
sum of money on termination of employment.

Non-executive Directors’ fees

Non-executive directors’ fees will remain unchanged for the year ended 31 December 2015. These will be 
submitted to shareholders for approval at the Annual General Meeting. The fees payable are as follows:

    Additional per 
  Annual meeting

Board    
Chairman R130 000 R10 000
Member R104 000 R7 500
Audit and Risk Committee    
Chairman R30 000 R10 000
Member R17 500 R7 500
Other committees    
Chairman R13 000 R5 000

Member R9 750 R3 500
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DIRECTOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

The directors are required by the Companies Act of South Africa to maintain adequate accounting records and are 
responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and Group annual financial statements 
and related financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual financial 
statements and Group annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Group and the Company 
as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in 
conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors are engaged to express an 
independent opinion on the annual financial statements and Group annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements and Group annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with 
International financial Reporting Standards and SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting 
Practices Committee and are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established 
by the Company and Group and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. 
To  enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, the Board sets standards for internal control aimed at 
reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of 
responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation 
of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system 
of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of 
the annual financial statements and Group annual financial statements. However, any system of internal financial 
control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board of Directors acknowledges its responsibility to ensure the integrity of the integrated report. The Board 
has accordingly applied its mind to the integrated report and in the opinion of the Board the integrated report 
addresses all material issues, and presents fairly the integrated performance of the organisation and its impacts. 
The integrated report has been prepared in line with best practice pursuant to the recommendations of the King 
III Code (principle 9).

The directors have reviewed the Company and Group cash flow forecasts for the year to 31 December 2015 
and, in the light of this review and current financial position, they are satisfied that with the continued support by 
JSW, that the Company and Group has access to adequate resources to continue in operation existence for the 
foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the annual financial statements 
and Group annual financial statements and their report is presented on pages 16 and 17.

The annual financial statements and Group annual financial statements set out on pages 18 to 56, which have 
been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by the Board and were signed on its behalf by:

 

 

QMSM Mokoetle CP Tated
Independent Non-executive Chairman Chief Financial Officer
5 December 2015  
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CERTIFICATE OF THE COMPANY SECRETARY

In my capacity as Company Secretary, I hereby confirm, in terms of section 33 together with section 88 of the 
Companies Act, 2008, that for the year ended 31 December 2014, the Company has lodged with the Commissioner 
all such returns as are required of a public company in terms of the Act, and that all such returns are, to the best 
of my knowledge and belief, true, correct and up to date.

The Company has failed to meet the requirements of section 94(2) and 94(4)(b)(ii), however, this failure has been 
addressed and the composition of the Audit Committee was addressed and new appointments made in May 
2015. The Company failed in terms of section 30(1) and 30 (2)(a) to publish audited provisional financial statements 
and audited financial statements within six months of the financial year-end. 

 

Patricia Smit
Johannesburg

5 December 2015
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Shareholders of South African Coal Mining Holdings Limited

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of South African Coal Mining Holdings 
Limited set out on pages 25 to 56, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2014, 
and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and 
separate financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements 
of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated and separate financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated and separate financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of South African Coal Mining Holdings Limited as at 31 December 2014, and its financial performance 
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Emphasis of matter

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to the financial results which indicate that the Group incurred a 
net loss of R79,25 million for the year ended 31 December 2014 and, as at that date, the Group’s total liabilities 
exceeded its total assets by R228,47 million. The Group and Company’s going concern status is dependent upon 
JSW Energy Limited (a company listed on the Indian Stock Exchanges) and operating through its subsidiary, 
JSW Natural Resources South Africa Proprietary Limited (JSWSA) financial support to South African Coal Mining 
Holdings Limited. JSWSA have confirmed, in writing, their firm intention to continue the financial support to South 
African Coal Mining Holdings Limited. This support is subject to JSW Energy India Limited remaining the majority 
shareholder of the Group; the Company obtaining Board approval to provide the further funding; and the Company 
obtaining regulatory approval specific to the laws of India. Refer to the Directors’ Report for disclosure hereon.
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These conditions, along with other matters related to the activities of the Company as disclosed in the note 
to the Directors’ Report, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on 
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements are prepared on the basis of 
accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes that that the Company will continue to 
receive the support of its holding company and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities will occur 
in the ordinary course of business.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In accordance with our responsibilities in terms of sections 44(2) and 44(3) of the Auditing Profession Act, we report 
that we have identified certain unlawful acts or omissions committed by persons responsible for the management 
of South African Coal Mining Holdings Limited which constitute reportable irregularities in terms of the Auditing 
Profession Act, and have reported such matters to the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors.

Non-compliance with section 30(1) of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements 7.25 through failure 
by the Company to prepare and publish the annual financial statements within six months after the end of the 
financial year has been reported.

Non-compliance with the Companies Act requirements relating to the composition of the audit committee as 
required by sections 94(2) and 94(4)(b)(i) has been reported.

Non-compliance with section 2.1 of the Amendment of the Broad-Based Socio-Economic Empowerment 
Charter for the South African Mining and Minerals Industry requirements relating to ownership of the Company by 
historically disadvantaged South Africans has been reported.

Non-compliance with King III relating to the composition of the remuneration committee as required by Chapters 
2.131, 2.45.2 and 2.57, composition of the nomination committee as required by Chapter 2.57, composition of 
the risk committee as required by Chapter 4.3.2.2, appointments to the board of directors as required by Chapter 
2.19 and policy evidencing clear division of responsibilities at board level as required by Chapter 2.18 have been 
reported.

Non-compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements relating to the composition of the nomination committee 
as required by section 3.84(a), appointments to the board of directors as required by section 3.84(a), policy 
evidencing clear division of responsibilities as required by section 3.84(b), appointment of a full-time executive 
financial director as required by section 3.84(g), preparation of a working capital pack as required by schedule 
12.2 (a to d) and distribution of provisional annual financial statements within three months after the financial year 
end as required by section 3.20 have been reported.

The matters pertaining to the reportable irregularities have been described in the Directors’ Report.

Other reports required by the Companies Act

As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014, 
we have read the Directors’ Report, the Audit Committee’s Report and the Company Secretary’s Certificate for 
the purpose of identifying whether there are material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited 
consolidated and separate financial statements. These reports are the responsibility of the respective preparers. 
Based on reading these reports, we have not identified material inconsistencies between these reports and the 
audited financial statements. However, we have not audited these reports and accordingly do not express an 
opinion on these reports.

Mazars
Partner: Shaun Vorster
Registered Auditor

5 December 2015
5 St Davids Place
Parktown
2193
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

This report is provided in respect of the 2014 financial year of the Group as required by the Companies Act, 2008, 
(“the Act”).

Details of the members of the Audit and Risk Committee are set out on page 9 of this report.  This committee was 
appointed on 19 May 2015.  Prior to that date the committee consisted to two non-executive directors and the 
chairman of the board, which did not comply with regulatory standards. 

Execution of the functions of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee’s duties, are to be executed in accordance with its Terms of Reference as they relate to 
SACMH’s accounting, internal control and financial reporting practices.

During the year under review, the committee, ensured, inter alia:

In respect of the external audit:

• That the appointment of the external auditor complied with the Act and all applicable legal and regulatory 
requirements for the appointment of the auditor and confirmed that the external auditor and designated auditor 
are accredited by the JSE;

• Approved the terms of engagement of the external auditors;
• Approved the external audit plan and the budgeted audit fees payable to the external auditor;
• Obtained an annual written statement from the auditor that their independence was not impaired;
• Determined the nature and extent of all non-audit services provided by the external auditor;
• Nominated Mazars as the external auditor and Mr S Vorster as the designated auditor to the shareholders for 

appointment for the financial year ended 31 December 2014;
• Assessed the independence of the external auditors; and
• Reviewed the experience and expertise of the Chief Financial Officer and satisfied itself as to his suitability for 

the position. 

In respect of the appropriateness and adequacy of the finance function:

• The finance department consisted of a chief financial officer who was also acting as Chief Executive Officer, a 
financial manager and a bookkeeper during the year under review. This compliment was considered adequate 
for the needs of the Company while under a care and maintenance programme as trading had ceased and the 
number of accounting transactions had reduced significantly.

In respect of the financial statements:

• Confirmed the going concern as the basis of preparation of the interim and annual financial statements which 
is dependent on JSW supporting SACMH. JSW have confirmed their firm intention to continue their financial 
support of SACMH during 2014;

• Examined and reviewed the interim and annual financial statements, as well as all financial information disclosed 
to public prior to submission and approval by the Board;

• Ensured that the annual financial statements fairly present the financial position of the Company and of the 
Group as at the end of the financial year and the results of operations and cash flows for the financial year and 
prospects of the Group;

• Considered accounting treatments, significant unusual transactions and accounting judgements;
• Considered the appropriateness of the accounting policies adopted and changes thereto;
• Reviewed the external auditor’s audit report;
• Reviewed the disclosures in the sustainability report and consider that the level of activity while the operations 

are on care and maintenance are adequate to comply with legislative and regulatory standards; and 
• Considered any problems identified and reviewed any significant legal and tax matters that could have a 

material impact on the financial statements.
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In respect of the internal financial controls of the Company:

• the Company does not have an internal audit function;
• have access JSW’s internal audit team when necessary; and
• have implemented recommendations made by that team to manage risks, internal controls and legal and 

regulatory matters to ensure that standards of governance are maintained.

In respect of the adequacy of the finance director:

• During the year under review Mr David Miller resigned as finance director of the company and Mr Ajit Singh 
was appointed in his stead. Mr Singh, an employee of JSW and seconded to the company, resigned from the 
JSW group during September and Mr Chandraprakash Tated was appointed to fill the vacancy of the finance 
director and to act as chief executive officer. The qualifications and experience of all three encumbents were 
considered suitable to comply with the requirements of legislation and regulation. 

Since the new appointments to the Audit Committee in May 2015, four Audit Committee Meetings have been 
held, visits organised for members of the committee to the operations so that they can gain a better understanding 
of the affairs of the company and an Audit Committee Plan prepared with a view to monitoring the activities of the 
company as required by legislation and recommended by King III. 

PP Menon
Chairman: Audit Committee up until 19 May 2015
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and audited financial statements for the year ended 
31  December 2014. These financial statements have been prepared using appropriate accounting policies, 
conforming to International Financial Reporting Standards, The Companies Act of South Africa and presented 
in accordance with the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgements where required.

Nature of business

The Company is a South African registered and domiciled investment holding company with subsidiaries operating 
in the coal mining industry.

Performance for the 12 months to 31 December 2014

Operations at the Group’s Umlabu Colliery continue to be suspended pending the finalisation of the Water Use 
Licence Application (WULA) by the Department of Water Affairs (DWAF). All assets and infrastructure is being 
maintained under a “Care and Maintenance” program.

The Group is utilising its logistical and infrastructural assets to generate rental income to offset the costs incurred 
while operations remain suspended. 

Foreign exchange loss

The depreciation of the US$/ZAR rate from R10.674 to R11.697 during the reporting period resulted in an 
unrealised foreign exchange loss of R75.5 million (2013: R61.2 million) on the shareholders’ loan.

Depreciation

Depreciation charges of R6.7 million (2013: R8.4 million) are lower than the previous comparative period as a 
result of assets that have been fully depreciated in prior years not being depreciated in the current year.

Amortisation of mining right

No amortisation charge was recorded (2013: Nil) as no mining activities were conducted during the year.

Statement of reserves and resources and prospects

There are no changes to the Groups estimated reserves and resources as no mining activities took place. 
A Competent Persons Report was prepared in 2012 and is available for inspection on the website/company’s head 
office. A further report will be prepared once mining operations are resumed upon receipt of the Water Use Licence.

Financing activities

During the year R5 million was transferred to JSW Energy Natural Resources South Africa Proprietary Limited 
(“JSWENRSAL”) to an FNB bank account held in South Africa so as to reduce the interest on the Group’s major 
shareholder account. The remaining movement on the loan account relates to foreign exchange movements and 
interest. The major shareholder has committed to provide financial support for operational and working capital purposes.

Asset management 

Working capital requirements have been reduced by more than 17% during the period as a result of the following:

• Accounts receivable has reduced due to tighter credit management.
• Accounts payable has increased due to payment terms with suppliers being stretched.
• Total working capital balances including cash have decreased from R13.9 million (2013) to R11.5 million (2014).

All current portions of interest and non-interest-bearing liabilities were settled during the prior year. 

Taxation

No normal taxation adjustments have been made for the year as the group has incurred further tax losses for 
the current year. The deferred tax movement through the statement of consolidated income for the year was 
R68.5 million (2013: R32.3 million) and was recorded as a result of the difference between book values and tax 
values of the rehabilitation and bad debts provisions. 
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The movement has resulted in a net deferred tax asset of R5.93 million for the Group.

Mining rights

The carrying value of Mining Rights is tested against expected economic benefit based on expected cash flows 
discounted to their present value to determine whether there is any impairment of the value of the Mineral Rights at 
year end. An impairment of R53.51 million (2013: R115.4 million) has been raised against the value of Mining Rights 
as a result of the reduction of the forecast export price of coal as well as the increase in anticipated mining costs. 

The following significant assumptions have been made in determining the economic value of mineral rights: 

• Selling Prices – the API4 index as quoted by McCloskeys.
• Foreign Exchange – the forecast as quoted by The Standard Bank of South Africa.
• Discount Rate – expected future cash flows have been discounted to their present value based on a Weighted 

Average Cost of Capital (WACC) of 19.41% (2013: 20.7%).

Going concern

The Group incurred a net loss of R79,25 million (2013: R160 million) and total liabilities exceeded total assets by 
R22,47 million during the 12 months, which gives rise to a material uncertainty which casts doubt on the entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. The main uncertainty facing the company at the end of the financial year 
was the possibility that the mining right may be suspended by the authorities because its Broad–based Black 
Economic Empowerment to comply with legislative requirements status remained unchanged. This was resolved 
by the signature of an agreement with Comogen Proprietary Limited, a historically disadvantaged South African 
Company that is 100% black owned and controlled, acquiring 26% of the Company’s shares from JSW introducing 
the necessary. The Group’s going concern has been underwritten by the support of JSW Energy (a company listed 
on the Indian Stock Exchanges) which operates through its subsidiary JSW Energy Natural Resources South Africa 
Proprietary Limited (“JSENRSAL”) supporting SACMH. JSW Energy has confirmed its support in writing of their 
intention to continue financial support of SACMH including on-going provision of cash injections in order for SACMH 
to settle debts as they become due, in order for them to continue to operate. This support is subject to JSW Energy 
India Limited remaining the majority shareholder of the Group; the Company obtaining Board approval to provide the 
further funding; and the Company obtaining regulatory approval specific to the laws of India.

The Group’s Life of Mine plan reflects that operations are expected to produce positive cash flows after servicing 
all debt and capital requirements by 2016 once the WULA is received.

Reportable irregularities

On 13 April 2015 the auditors addressed a letter to the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors (“IRBA”) in 
respect of the composition of the committees of the board and the composition of the board of directors, a policy 
evidencing clear division of responsibilities at board level, the appointment of full time executive financial director, 
preparation of a working capital pack and B-BBEE share ownership which failed to meet the legislation relating to 
B-BBEE socio-economic empowerment by 31 December 2014. Several directors have been appointed since the 
end of January 2015 and the compositions of the various committees corrected, the details of which are set out 
elsewhere in this report. Mr Chandra Prakash Tated was appointed as full time Chief Financial Officer at the end of 
September 2015. The policy in respect of the division of responsibilities is embodied in the Board Charter of the 
Company and a working capital pack was prepared and submitted to Mazars. A sale of shares agreement with 
Comogen Proprietary Limited, a historically disadvantaged South African company that is 100% black owned and 
controlled, was signed in July 2015. 

On 7 July 2015 a further letter was addressed to IRBA by Mazars relating to lateness of the release of the 
provisional and annual financial statements.  The provisional report was published in the press on 26 June and the 
annual financial statements were approved by the board on 10 November.    

Events after the reporting period

Mr Kareem Ashraff was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director on 30 January 2015.

Mr Keith Harris was appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 2 February 2015.

Messrs Mesuli Dhlamini and Joe Mokgokong were appointed as Independent Non-executive Directors on 
18 May 2015. 
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On the 18 June 2015, Dr A de Lange, the Acting Chief Director of the Department of Environmental Affairs 
approved the Environmental Impact Assessment (“EIA”) for the proposed new coal processing plant at Umlabu. 
A condition of this authorisation is that activity must commence within a period of four years from the date of issue 
of the EIA. 

Mr Lindifa Mamba, a director of the new B-BBEE shareholder, Comogen Proprietary Limited, was appointed a 
member of the board of directors on 21 September 2015.

On 15 October the Company published a SENS announcement to the effect that it proposed delisting and that 
JSW SA, which currently held 67.27% of the issued shares, were offering to purchase the remaining shares for a 
consideration equal to 9 cents per share. A copy of the announcement can be viewed on the Company’s website.

Composition of the Audit and Remuneration Committees

The Audit Committee consists of three Independent Non-executive Directors appointed on 19 May 2015. 

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee has been re-constituted, the details of which are set out on 
page 9 of this report.

Capital expenditure commitments

The Group has no capital expenditure commitments.

Contingencies and commitments

There have been no changes from those disclosed in the Group’s Integrated Annual Report for the year ended 
31 December 2013. 

Prospects

Until such stage as approval of the WULA for the Voorslag reserve at Umlabu Colliery is received operations will 
remain suspended. The Group will continue to lease its logistical and its infrastructural assets to third parties in the 
interim to offset the costs of “Care and Maintenance”.

No commitment has been received from the DWAF with regard to finalisation of the WULA.

Share capital

There have been no changes to the Company’s authorised and issued share capital during the year under review. 

Distributions

No dividends or distributions out of reserves or share premium were made during the year or subsequent to the year-end.

Directorate

There are no contracts between SACMH and non-executive directors. Executive directors are appointed by letter of 
appointment with a notice of termination by either party of three months. No termination bonuses are paid to directors.

Mr Ajit Pratap Singh was appointed as Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer on 30 June 2014 to 
replace Mr David Miller. On 30 September 2014, Mr Singh resigned as an employee of JSW Energy Limited and 
also tendered his resignation as a director of SACMH and its subsidiaries.

Mr Chandra Prakash Tated was appointed as Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer following the 
resignation of Mr Singh. 

Mr VP Garg resigned as a Director of the Company on 17 December 2014.

One meeting of directors was held on 19 March 2014 but no board committees meetings were held during the year 
under review. Meetings had been called but were not quorate. Management and members of the board present 
proceeded with these meetings on an informal basis, in order to attend to business requiring attention. The names 
of the directors and officers who were in office during the period 1 January to 31 December 2014 are as follows: 
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      Social
  Main *Audit  and
Director and Prescribed Officers Board   and Risk  Ethics
       

Independent Non-executive Chairman      
QMSM Mokoetle v v –

Non-executive directors      
VP Garg v v –
PP Menon v v –

Executive Director      
DGA Miller: resigned 30 June 2014 v – v
AP Singh: appointed 1 July, resigned 29 September 2014 v – –
CP Tated: appointed 30 September 2014 v – v

Prescribed officer      
RP Hugo – – v
PF Smit – – –
*The Audit and Risk Committee and Remuneration and Nominations Committee were reconstituted on 19 May 2015. The details of these 
committees are set out on page 9.

Directors and prescribed officers’ emoluments

2014 – Rand 

      Private        
      use of        
  Directors’ Basic motor Medical      
  fees salary vehicle aid Pension Other Total

Directors              
QMSM Mokoetle 238 125           238 125
DGA Miller   542 165 71 956 54 800 23 864   692 785
CP Singh**    652 276         652 276 
CP Tated**   760 989          760 989 
Prescribed 
officers        
RP Hugo   1 200 000 113 443   97 297   1 410 740
PF Smit   406 631     17 202   423 833

  238 125 2 148 796 185 399 54 800 138 363   2 765 483
**Mr AP Singh earned an annual CTC package of 3.6 million Indian Rupees equivalent to R652 276.
**Mr CP Tated earned an annual CTC package of 4.2 million Indian Rupees equivalent to R760 989.

These emoluments were paid by JSWNRS in India. 
The exchange rate at the 31 December 2014 was 5.49310 INR for 1 ZAR.

2013 – Rand

      Private        
      use of        
  Directors’ Basic motor Medical      
   fees  salary vehicle aid Pension Other** Total

Directors              
QMSM Mokoetle 170 375 –         170 375
DGA Miller – 1 025 725 167 061 94 808 43 906 182 713 1 514 213
Prescribed 
officers

           

RP Hugo – 1 132 521 91 370 – 91 824 – 1 315 715 
PF Smit**** – 418 768 – – 13 629 – 432 397

* No post-employment pension and medical benefits are paid to directors and employees.
** Other includes an incentive bonus due to Mr Miller.
*** The salaries of Messrs Ajit Singh and Chandra Tated were borne by the major shareholder.
**** The reduction in salary was due a reduction in working hours in order to reduce costs.
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During 2014 JSW waived the right to receive Non-executive Directors’ fees for its nominated directors, namely, 
Messrs Garg and Menon.

Preparer of integrated report

The preparation of the consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended the 31 December 2014 
were prepared by Glenn Murray under the supervision of Chandraprakash Tated. These results have been audited 
in compliance with the applicable requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. 

Directors’ shareholding

Directors of the Company held no shares in the Company during the year under review.

External auditors

Mazars (“Mazars”) were appointed as external auditors of the Group with effect from the 1 January 2013. Shareholder 
approval was received at the annual general meeting held on 10 September 2014, for the re-appointment of 
Mazars as SACMH’s external auditors for the 2014 financial year and confirmation of Mr Shaun Vorster as the 
designated auditor.

Company Secretary

Mrs Pat Smit (FCIS, B.Iuris) is the Company Secretary of the Company.

Business address: 1st Floor, Oxford Muse, 198 Oxford Road, Illovo, Sandton, 2196

Postal address: PO Box 55190, Northlands, 2116

After reviewing the Company Secretary’s academic qualifications as set out above, and her experience gained in 
excess of 28 years as a Company Secretary, mostly in the mining industry in the role of Company Secretary, and 
continued professional development, the Board believes that the Company Secretary meets the requirements to 
competently carry out the role as Company Secretary. 
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

as at 31 December as at 2014

    Group Company
    31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec
    2014 2013 2014 2013
  Notes R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

ASSETS          
Non-current assets   320 638 367 094 51 376 51 376

Property, plant and equipment 5 74 682 82 176 876 876

Intangible assets 6 180 908 234 418 – –

Deferred tax 7  14 548  – –  –

Investments and investment in subsidiaries 8 50 500 50 500 50 500 50 500

Current assets   8 190 11 451 5 151 3 303

Group loans 9 – – 5 151 3 303

Trade and other receivables 10 4 845 7 499 –  –

Cash and cash equivalents 11 3 345 3 952 –  –

Total assets   328 828 378 545 56 527 54 679

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES          
Capital and reserves   (228 473) (149 219) (107 585) (88 133)

Issue capital and premium 12 233 885 233 885 233 885 233 885

Accumulated loss   (462 358) (383 104) (341 470) (322 018)

Non-current liabilities   553 940 525 326 164 061 142 761

Shareholders’ loans 13 498 693 418 395 155 448 134 148

Non-current provision 14 46 576 44 286 – –

Deferred taxation 7 8 613 62 645 8 613 8 613

Other liability   58 – – –

Current liabilities   3 361 2 438 51 51

Trade and other payables 15 3 309 2 438 51 51

Other liability   52 –  – –

Total equity and liabilities   328 828 378 545 56 527 54 679
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the year ended 31 December 2014

    Group Company
    31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec
    2014 2013 2014 2013
  Notes R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Revenue 16 42 595 23 180 – –
Cost of sales   (37 714) (13 386) – –

Gross profit   4 881 9 794 –  –

Foreign exchange loss 13 (75 575) (61 244) (17 404) (18 334)

Impairment reversed/(impairment) of asset 6 & 17 (53 510) (115 350) –  18 552
           

Gain on sale/scrapping of assets   – 800 –  –

Depreciation (6 752) (8 421) – –

Finance income 19 28 2 –  –

Other income 400 –  – –

Operating expenses   (7 396) (6 447)  – –

Operating (loss)/profit before finance costs and 
taxation 18 (137 924) (180 866) (17 404) 218

Finance costs 19 (9 907) (11 236) (2 048) (2 010)

(Loss)/profit before taxation   (147 831) (192 102) (19 452) (1 792)

Taxation 7 68 577 32 298 –  –

(Loss)/profit for the year   (79 254) (159 804) (19 452)  (1 792)
           

Total comprehensive loss attributable to 
ordinary shareholders   (79 254) (159 804) – –

Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders   (79 254) (159 804) – –

Loss per share 20 (17.51) (35.32) –  –

Diluted loss per share 20 (17.51) (35.32) – –
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

for the year ended 31 December 2014
          

  Share capital Share premium 
 Accumulated 

loss  Total
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Group        
Balance at 1 January 2013 45 246 188 639 (223 300) 10 585
Total comprehensive loss attributable to  
ordinary shareholders – loss for the year – – (159 804) (159 804)

Balance at 1 January 2014 45 246 188 639  (383 104) (149 219)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to        
ordinary shareholders – loss for the year – – (79 254) (31 974)

Balance at 31 December 2014 45 246 188 639 (462 358) (181 201)

Company        
Balance at 1 January 2013 45 246 188 639 (320 226) (86 341)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to        
ordinary shareholders – loss for the year – – (1 792) (1 792)

Balance at 1 January 2014 45 246 188 639 (322 018) (88 133)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to        
ordinary shareholders – loss for the year – – (19 452) (19 452)

Balance at 31 December 2014 45 246 188 639 (341 470) (107 585)

Note: 12 12 – –
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 STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

for the year ended 31 December 2014

    Group
    31 Dec 31 Dec
    2014 2013
  Notes R’000 R’000

Cash flows from operations 24 4 549 431
Finance charges paid 19 (184) (2 148)
Interest received 19 28 2
      –

Net cash flow from operating activities   4 393 (1 715)

Cash flow from investing activities      
Proceeds on sale of asset   – 800

Net cash used in investing activities   – 800
       

Cash from financing activities      
Repayment of shareholder loan   (5 000) –
Proceeds from shareholder loan   – 34 282
Repayment of SBSA loan   – (34 800)
       

Net cash from financing activities   (5 000) (518)
Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (607) (1 433)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 11 3 952 5 385

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  11 3 345 3 952

There is no Company statement of cash flows as the Company does not have any cash and cash equivalents.



29

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2014

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

These annual financial statements are presented in South African Rand thousands being the currency in which 
the majority of the Company’s and Group’s transactions are denominated and the Company’s functional currency.

1. GENERAL INFORMATION 

South African Coal Mining Holdings Limited (“the Group”) is a limited company incorporated in the Republic 
of South Africa and listed on the Main Board of the JSE Limited. The addresses of its registered office and 
principal place of business are disclosed in the inside back cover of this annual report.

2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the Group has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for 
the current financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement  

Clarification has been settled that entities are still able to measure short-term receivables and payables with 
no stated interest rate, at invoice amounts without discounting when the effect of discounting is immaterial.

The clarification is applicable with immediate effect.

The group adopted the clarification with immediate effect.

The clarification did not have a material effect on the group’s consolidated annual financial statements.

IAS 32: Financial Instruments: Presentation

The amendments to IAS 32 clarify the requirements relating to the offset of financial assets and financial 
liabilities. Specifically, the amendments clarify the meaning of ‘currently has a legally enforceable right of set-
off’ and ‘simultaneous realisation and settlement’. The amendments require retrospective application.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

The Group adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2014 consolidated annual financial statements.

The amendment did not have a material effect on the group’s consolidated annual financial statements.

Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The Group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations and amendments to 
standards and interpretations:

Amendment to IFRS 8: Operating Segments: Annual improvements project

Management are now required to disclose the judgements made in applying the aggregation criteria. 
This  includes a brief description of the operating segments that have been aggregated in this way and the 
economic indicators that have been assessed in determining that the aggregated operating segments share 
similar economic characteristics.

A reconciliation of the reportable segments’ assets to the entity’s assets, is only required if the segment 
assets are reported in accordance with paragraph 23. 
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The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 July 2015.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2016 consolidated annual financial 
statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s consolidated annual financial 
statements, as no aggregation is applied yet.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (IAS 39) and is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The new standard does away with the rule-based 
classifications previously seen under IAS 39 and instead requires principle-based classifications which are 
driven by cash flow characteristics of the instrument and the group’s business model. The measurement 
classes for financial instruments under the new standard comprise amortised cost, fair value through profit or 
loss and fair value through other comprehensive income. 

The standard also incorporates a forward-looking ‘expected loss’ impairment model, which is a departure 
from the ‘incurred loss’ model applied previously under IAS 39. The forward-looking model includes credit risk 
assessments from the date of initial recognition using probability weighted outcomes. Where forward-looking 
information is not available, there is a rebuttable presumption that credit risk has increased significantly 
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due. A three stage approach is used to recognise 
expected credit losses: stage 1 – 12 month expected credit losses, stage 2 – lifetime expected credit losses, 
stage 3 – credit impaired lifetime expected credit losses. The standard also incorporates hedge accounting 
requirements which are more aligned with risk management activities than under the largely rule-based 
approach of IAS 39.

The group is in the process of assessing the impact of the new standard on the classification and measurement 
of its financial instruments. The group will adopt the new standard on its mandatory effective date which is for 
years beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

IFRS 15 – Revenue from contracts with customers

This standard establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting from revenue arising 
from contracts with customers. It will supersede the following revenue Standards and Interpretations upon 
its effective date:

• IAS 18 – Revenue
• IAS 11 – Construction contracts
• IFRIC 13 – Customer loyalty programmes
• IFRIC 15 – Agreements for the construction of real estate
• IFRIC 18 – Transfer of assets from customers
• SIC 31 – Revenue-barter transactions involving advertising services

As suggested by the title of the new Standard, IFRS 15 will only cover revenue arising from contracts with 
customers. The core principle of the Standard is that the entity should recognise revenue to depict the 
transfer of the promised goods or services to the customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to 
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The new Revenue Standard 
introduces a five-step approach to revenue recognition and measurement.

IFRS 15 is effective for reporting periods on or after 1 January 2018 with early application permitted.

The Group has not yet adopted and applied the standard.

The Group expects to adopt the standard when it becomes applicable.

The impact of the standard is currently being assessed.
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IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Instruments

As part of a major initiative to improve presentation and disclosure in financial reports, designed to further 
encourage companies to apply professional judgement in determining what information to disclose in their 
financial statements, such as the following:

• Materiality consideration; and
• Line items in the Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Comprehensive Income can be 

aggregated or disaggregated as relevant.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2016 consolidated annual financial 
statements.

It is unlikely that the amendments will have a material impact on the group’s consolidated annual financial 
statements.

IAS 24: Related Party Disclosure: Annual improvements project

The definition of a related party has been amended to include an entity, or any member of a group of which 
it is a part, which provides key management personnel services to the reporting entity to the parent of the 
reporting entity (management entity). Disclosure is required of payments made to the management entity for 
these services but not of the payments made by the management entity to its directors or employees.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 July 2015.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2015 consolidated annual financial 
statements.

It is unlikely that the amendments will have a material impact on the group’s consolidated annual financial 
statements.

Amendment to IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement: Annual improvements project

The amendment clarifies that references to financial assets and financial liabilities in paragraphs 48 – 51 and 
53 – 56 should be read as applying to all contracts within the scope of, and accounted for in accordance with 
IAS 39 of IFRS 9, regardless of whether they meet the definitions of financial assets or financial liabilities in IAS 
32: Financial Instruments: Presentation.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 July 2015.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2015 consolidated annual financial 
statements.

The impact of this amendment is currently being assessed.

IAS 27: Separate Financial Statements

Management are now required to reinstate the equity method as an accounting option for investments in 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in an entity’s separate financial statement.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2016 separate annual financial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendments will have a material impact on the group’s consolidated annual financial 
statements.
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IAS 38: Intangible Assets – Amendment to the amortisation method of intangible assets

The amendment to IAS 38 introduce a rebuttable presumption that revenue is not an appropriate basis 
for amortisation of an intangible asset. This presumption can only be rebutted in the following two limited 
circumstances:

a. When the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue; and

b. When it can be demonstrated that revenue and the consumption of the economic benefits of the 
intangible assets are highly correlated.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2016 consolidated annual financial 
statements.

It is unlikely that the amendments will have a material impact on the group’s consolidated annual financial 
statements.

IAS 38: Intangible Assets – Amendment to the revaluation method 

The revaluation of the carrying amount of an intangible asset is adjusted to the value in one of the following 
ways:

a. The gross carrying amount is adjusted consistently with the valuation; or

b. The accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 July 2014.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2015 consolidated annual financial 
statements.

It is unlikely that the amendments will have a material impact on the group’s consolidated annual financial 
statements.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The annual financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with 
the Companies Act 71 of 2008, International Financial Reporting Standards, the Listings Requirements of 
the JSE Limited and SAICA’s Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee.

3.1 Basis of preparation

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except as indicated and 
incorporate the accounting policies set out below.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

3.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries 
as at 31 December 2014. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to effect those returns through its power 
over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:

• power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that gives it the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee);

• exposure, all rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
• the ability to use its power over the investee to effect its investment.
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The results of the subsidiaries are included in the consolidated annual financial statements from the 
effective date that control was acquired to the effective date that control is disposed or lost.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

3.3 Fair value measurements

The Group measures the available-for-sale financial asset at fair value. The fair values of the instruments 
measured at amortised cost are disclosed should it be determined that the carrying value of these 
instruments does not reasonably approximate their fair value at each reporting date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based 
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

• in the principal market for the asset or liability; or
• in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would 
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows. Based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

• Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; or
• Level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is directly or indirectly observable; or
• Level 3: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is unobservable.

For the assets that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the 
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between the levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole) at the end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of the fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities 
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value 
hierarchy as explained above.

3.4 Property, plant and equipment

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised when:

It is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the 
cost can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially recognised at cost. Cost includes all costs necessary to bring 
the asset to working conditions for its intended use. This would include not only its original purchase 
price but also costs of site preparation, delivery and handling, installation, related professional fees and 
the estimated cost of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the site. Direct attributable 
expenses relating to mining and other major capital projects, such as site preparation and exploration are 
capitalised until the asset is brought to a working condition for its intended use. Any provision recognised 
for dismantling and site restoration costs at the end of the useful term of the item of property, plant and 
equipment, forms part of the initial cost price of the item of property, plant and equipment. 

Measurement subsequent to initial recognition is stated below per class of property, plant and equipment:

Land is stated at cost and is not depreciated. Buildings and all other items of property, plant and 
equipment are reflected at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets after taking 
into account the estimated residual value of the assets. Useful life is the period of time which the asset 
is expected to be used.



34

Depreciation commences when the asset is available for use and continues until the asset is derecognised, 
even if it is idle. 

Items of property, plant and equipment are capitalised in components where components have a different 
useful life to the main item of property, plant and equipment to which the component can be logically 
assigned.

The estimated useful life of assets, depreciation methods thereof and their residual values, are re-
assessed at the end of each reporting period with any changes in such accounting estimates being 
adjusted in the financial year of re-assessment and applied prospectively. The estimated useful lives of 
items of property, plant and equipment are:

• Land Indefinite
• Buildings 20 years
• Fixed plant and equipment 2 – 20 years
• Mobile plant and equipment 5 years
• Motor vehicles 4 years

Maintenance and repairs which neither materially add to the value of assets nor appreciably prolong their 
useful lives are taken to profit or loss. 

At the end of each reporting period the Group reviews the carrying amounts of the items of property, 
plant and equipment to determine whether there is any indication that those items have suffered an 
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the item is estimated in order 
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value 
less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the item for which the estimates of future cash flows 
have not been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of the item is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the item is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment is derecognised either when it has been disposed of or when it is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its use or disposal. 
The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in 
the income statement in the period of derecognition. 

3.5 Leasing

The Group as lessee

Operating Lease

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessor 

Operating lease

Operating lease income is recognised as an income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The 
difference between the amounts recognised as income and the contractual receipts is recognised as an 
operating lease asset that is not discounted.

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging operating leases are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the 
lease income.

Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in profit or loss.

3.6 Intangible assets

An intangible asset is recognised when:

It is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the 
company; and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.
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Intangible assets acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortisation is recognised as an intangible asset is used. The amortisation method are reviewed at the 
end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for in 
the period of the change.

Intangible assets comprise of mineral rights, which are accounted for at original cost to the Group on 
acquisition.

Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

3.7 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. 
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an 
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs.

The Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing 
the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating 
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss 
been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

3.8 Translation of foreign currencies

In preparing the annual financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies, other than 
the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies), are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at historical 
cost should be reported using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. When non-monetary 
items are carried at fair value, the rate should be reported as when the fair values were determined.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

3.9 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the 
amounts received for goods and services provided in the normal course of business and net of value 
added tax.

3.9.1 Lease income

Lease income is recognised in accordance with the lease policy. 

3.9.2 Interest income

Interest is recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective interest rate method.
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3.10  Taxation

Tax expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the 
period, except to the extent that the tax arises from:

• a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other 
comprehensive income, or

• a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates 
to items that are credited or changed, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that 
are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as liability. If the amount 
already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the 
excess is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to 
be paid to (recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the 
deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 
A deferred tax asset is not recognised when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in 
a transaction is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting 
profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

3.11  Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 
a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

Decommissioning and environmental rehabilitation

Provision is made for environmental rehabilitation and decommissioning costs where either a legal or 
constructive obligation is recognised as a result of past events. Estimates are based upon costs that are 
regularly reviewed and adjusted as appropriate for new circumstances.

Provisions are raised in the rehabilitation provision, operated in accordance with the statutory requirements 
to provide for the estimated cost of pollution control and rehabilitation during and at the end of the life 
of the mine.
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3.12  Related parties

A related party in case of the Group, is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its 
financial statements (referred to as the “reporting entity”).

(a) A person or a close corporation of the person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of the parent of the Group

(b) A entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of 
a member of a group of which the other entity is a member);

(iii) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); or
(iv) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel or the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The related parties of the Group consist of the subsidiaries of the Group.

3.13 Financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments.

The Group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial 
asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, less transactions costs to sell.

Financial assets

Classification

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories:

• available-for-sale financial assets
• loans and receivables 

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the 
time of initial recognition.

Subsequent measurement

Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value with fair value adjustments 
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate 
method, less accumulated impairment losses.

Effective interest rate method

The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument 
and of allocating interest income and finance cost over the relevant period. The effective interest rate 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life 
of the financial instrument, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, of the net carrying amount on initial 
recognition.

Available-for-sale financial asset

The Group has an investment in unlisted shares that are not traded in an active market but that is also 
classified as an available-for-sale financial asset and stated at fair value. 
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Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables and group loans are classified as “loans and receivables”. 

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits 
held on call, and investments in money market instruments, net of bank overdrafts, all of which are 
available for use by the group unless otherwise stated. The carrying amounts of these assets approximate 
their fair value.

Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date the Group assesses all financial assets to determine whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or Group or financial assets has been impaired.

For amounts due to the Group, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will 
enter bankruptcy and default of payments are all considered indicators of impairment.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction 
that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the date that the impairment is reversed shall not 
exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in profit and loss.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an allowance account, the amount of the loss is 
recognised in profit or loss within operating expenses. When such assets are written off, the write off is 
made against the relevant allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 
are credited against operating expenses.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period. 
With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss 
to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not 
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Derecognition of financial assets

The group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expires, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the asset to another entity.

Financial liabilities 

Classification

Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost and consists of the 
following:

• trade and other payables
• shareholders’ loans
• other financial liabilities 

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial liability and is determined at the 
time of initial recognition.

Subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost.
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4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors are required 
to make judgements , estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The judgements, estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are treated as a change in accounting estimate and are recognised prospectively.

4.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see 4.2 below), that the 
directors have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Estimated residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The residual values of the property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually after considering the 
current condition of the asset, future market conditions, the remaining life of the asset and projected 
disposal values. The estimation of the useful lives is based on historic performance as well as expectation 
about future use and, therefore, requires a degree of judgement to be applied. The depreciation rates 
represent management’s current basis estimate of the useful lives of the assets.

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation assets are recognised to the extent it is probable that the taxable income will be 
available against which they can be utilised. Future taxable profits are estimated based on business plans 
which include estimates and assumptions regarding economic growth, interest, inflation and taxation 
rates and competitive forces.

Impairment

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that either an asset 
or a group of assets is impaired.

Investments

The Group reflects its available-for-sale investments at fair value. The directors’ value of unlisted 
investments was determined using a combination of discounted cash flow, net asset value and price 
earnings methods.

Trade receivables

Management identifies impairment of trade receivables on an ongoing basis. An impairment allowance 
in respect of doubtful debts is raised against trade receivables when their collectability is considered 
to be doubtful. Management believes that the impairment adjustment is conservative and there are no 
significant trade receivables that are doubtful and have not been impaired or an allowance provided. 
In determining whether a particular receivable could be doubtful, the age, customer’s current financial 
status and disputes with the customer are taken into consideration.

Shareholders’ loans

These financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or they expire.

3.14 Share capital, share premium and equity

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an equity after 
deducting all of its liabilities.

Ordinary shares and share premium are classified as equity.



40

Rehabilitation provision

Provision is made for environmental and decommissioning costs where either a legal or a constructive 
obligation is recognised as a result of past events. Estimates are made in determining the present 
obligations of environmental and decommissioning provisions, which include the actual estimate, the 
discount rate and the expected date of suspension of mining activities in determining the present value 
of environmental and decommissioning provisions. Estimates are based upon costs that are regularly 
reviewed by internal and external experts, and adjusted as appropriate for new circumstances.

Mining Right

The estimated value of future cash flows are discounted to their present value based on the expected 
market conditions to determine whether there has been any reduction in value.

4.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Key sources of uncertainty relate to the economic mine ability of the mineral rights (as set out in the 
Competent Person’s Report) and the effect that this has on the carrying value of the asset on the 
balance sheet. The carrying value of the mineral rights at 31 December 2014 was R180 million (2013: 
R234 million).

The going concern status of the Group is reviewed annually by the directors and an unconditional letter of 
support has been put in place as a guarantee for the Groups’ going concern needs, including operational 
and cash flow requirements. 

4.3 Determination of fair value

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for 
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities Where applicable, further information about the 
assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

4.3.1 Investments

The unlisted investment in Richards Bay Coal Terminal Proprietary Limited is valued at cost which 
management believes represents fair value, which is evaluated by the Group annually.

4.3.2 Environmental rehabilitation obligation 

The long-term obligation resulting from environmental disturbances associated with the Group’s 
mining operations estimates are determined by independent environmental specialists, as well 
as internal specialists, in accordance with environmental regulations and value over the expected 
period of the programme. 

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

   2014  2013                 

                 

    Accu- Accu- Accu-   Accu- Accu- Accu-
    mulated mulated mulated   mulated mulated mulated
    deprecia- impair- carrying   deprecia- impair- carrying
  Cost tion ment value Cost tion ment value
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Group                
Owned assets                
Land and buildings 86 520 (17 758) (9 530) 59 232 86 520 (15 090) (9 530) 61 900
Plant and equipment 96 050 (72 989) (7 824) 15 237 96 050 (69 162) (7 082) 19 806
Motor vehicles  1 171 (951) (7) 213 1 171 (694) (7) 470

  183 741 (91 698) (17 361) 74 682 183 741 (84 946) (16 619) 82 176
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The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment can be reconciled as follows:

  Carrying        
  value at        
  start of       Carrying
  year Scrapping Reclassification Depreciation value
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Group 2014          
Owned assets          
Land and buildings 61 900 – – (2 668) 59 232
Plant and equipment 19 806 (742)** – (3 827) 15 237
Motor vehicles 470 – – (257)  213

  82 176 (742) – (6 752) 74 682

Group 2013          
Owned assets          
Land and buildings 64 563 – – (2 663) 61 900
Plant and equipment 23 843 – 1 461 (5 502) 19 806
Motor vehicles 726 – – (256) 470

  89 132 – 1 461 (8 421) 82 176

Capitalised lease assets          
Plant and equipment 1 461 – (1 461)* – –

  90 593 – – (8 421) 82 176

*Finance lease settled assets, reclassified from capitalised lease asset, to owned property, plant and equipment.
**A scrapping of an overstated balance in property, plant and equipment. The overstated balance related to an unidentifiable fixed asset 

on the fixed asset register. At the statement of financial position date, management made the decision to scrap the unidentifiable asset.

Company
Property, plant and equipment comprises Portion 10, a Portion of Portion 5 of the Farm Umlabu (IS) 
Mpumalanga on which the Umlabu siding is built at a cost of R876 000 (2013: R876 000). 

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

    2014       2013    
    Accumulated Accumulated Carrying   Accumulated Accumulated Carrying
  Cost amortisation impairments value Cost amortisation impairments value
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Group                
Owned assets                
Mineral rights 392 257  (42 489) (168 860) 180 908 392 257 (42 489) (115 350) 234 418

Total 392 257 (42 489) (168 860) 180 908 392 257 (42 489) (115 350) 234 418

The carrying value of intangible assets can be reconciled as follows:

  Carrying value   Carrying
  beginning   value end
  of year Impairment of year
  R’000 R’000 R’000
Group 2014      
Mineral rights 234 418 (53 510) 180 908

Total 234 418 (53 310) 180 908
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Group 2013      
Mineral rights 349 768 (115 350) 234 418

Total 349 768 (115 350) 234 418

Mineral rights

On the statement of financial position date the mineral rights are tested for impairment. The carrying value of 
mineral rights is tested against the expected economic benefit based on the expected cash flows discounted 
to their present value to determine whether there is any impairment of the value of the mineral right at year-
end.

Significant assumptions

The following significant assumptions are made in determining the economic value:
• Expected market conditions – information available at the reporting date is utilised to determine value. 

Forecasts to account for expected changes as a result of market conditions at the reporting date are 
based on the following significant assumptions:

 – Forecasted coal selling prices – the API4 index. The API4 index is the benchmark price for coal 
exported out of South Africa’s Richards Bay Terminal and is used in physical and over the counter 
contracts. This is calculated as an average of the Argus fob Richards Bay assessment and the IHS 
McCloskeys FOB Richards Bay marker; 

 – Foreign exchange – the forecast USD/ZAR as forecast by The Standard Bank of South Africa 
Limited; and

 – Discount rate – expected future cash flows are discounted to their present value based on a 
Weighted Average Cost Capital of 19.41% (2013: 20.7%).

Included in the valuation of the mining right at year-end are the following index rates:

Assumption Amount
Potential impairment to mining 

right value (R’000)

  Change <10% >10%

Coal Export Price – API4 – 7 230 –
SA Rand/US Dollar exchange rate – – 6 513
WACC – – 1 298 

Future cash flows – the expected future cash flows estimated include the following operational assumptions:

• Reserves – the estimated reserves as included in the updated resource and reserve statement together 
with the yields reflected in the Independent Engineer’s Report in this report; and

• Period – the estimated life of the mine is 12 years; and
• Operational and overhead costs – estimated costs are based on existing costs;
• Capital expenditure – estimated capital expenditure is based on the updated Mine Works Programme 

which has been utilised to develop the Life of Mine plan.
• A major risk facing the group is the failure of the coal prices to rise above the cost of production after the 

Water Use Licence is issued enabling the mine to commence mining the new reserve at Voorslag.

The estimated economic benefit of the mining right based on these assumptions at the reporting date 
indicates that an impairment of R53.5 million is required. 

Explanation:

Operational costs are maintenance and upkeep of the mine and its assets

Salaries of Mine personnel, security and mine related statutory consultancy services ie health and safety, 
environmental agent and surveyor costs.

Overhead costs re Head office rental , JSE related Creditors and Salaries of Directors and HO staff.
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7. INCOME AND DEFERRED TAX

  2014 2013

Deferred Tax R’000 R’000

Group    
Deferred taxation    
Revaluation/(impairment) of mineral rights – (65 637)
Rehabilitation provision 13 041 11 605
Gain on loans acquired from subsidiaries (8 613) (8 613)
Bad debts provision 1 504 –

  5 935 (62 645)

Balance at 1 January (62 645) (94 943)
Statement of comprehensive income charge 68 577 32 298

Total deferred tax asset/liability 5 935 (62 645)

Deferred taxation assets for assessed losses not provided for due 
to the uncertainty surrounding their ultimate realisation (47 280)  (53 336)

Company    
Deferred taxation liability 8 613 8 613

Gain on loans acquired in subsidiaries 8 613 8 613

Income Tax
Statement of comprehensive income (charge)/credit    
South African normal tax – current year – –
Deferred taxation – current year  68 577 32 298
    –

Tax reconciliation % %

Tax at the standard tax rate (28.00) (28.00)
Deferred tax asset not raised (18.38)  11.20

Tax rate per financial statements (46.39) (16.81)

The Group has no taxable income.

8. INVESTMENTS AND INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Investments on group level

  2014 2013
    Carrying   Carrying
         

  Cost value Cost value
  R’000  R’000 R’000 R’000
Group        
Investment in RBCT 50 500 50 500 50 500 50 500

This investment comprise 1 000 ordinary shares acquired in terms of the agreement with Richards Bay Coal 
Terminal Proprietary Limited, which entitles the Group to export 120 000 tons (2013: 120 000 tons) of product 
per annum through Richards Bay Coal Terminal. 
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No fair value adjustment has been made. The investment’s fair value can’t be determined as to many variables 
exist and the variables are changing constantly, therefore the available-for-sale asset is measured at cost.

Investments on company level
         

    2014   2013 

  Cost
Carrying 

value Cost
Carrying 

value 
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Company        
Investment in subsidiaries 19 800 19 800 19 800 19 800
Less: Impairments (19 800) (19 800) (19 800) (19 800)
Investment in RBCT 50 500 50 500 50 500 50 500

Total 50 500 50 500 50 500 50 500

All subsidiaries country of incorporation is the Republic of South Africa and the proportion of ownership 
interest held and principal activities are:

          Profit/ Profit/
        2014 (loss) (loss)
        Carrying after tax after tax
  2014 2013 Principal activity value 2014 2013
Entity (%) (%) at year-end R’000 R’000 R’000

Ilanga Coal Mines            
Proprietary Limited 100 100 Dormant coal mine – (45) (6)

Jigmining Operations No 1 
Proprietary Limited 100 100 Dormant – – (54)

Jigmining Operations No 3 
Proprietary Limited 100 100 Dormant – – (13)

SACM (Breyten) 
Proprietary Limited 100 100

Mine holding 
company – (64 003) (50 734)

SACM (Newcastle) 
Proprietary Limited 100 100 Dormant – – –

South African Coal Mining 
Equipment Company 
Proprietary Limited 100 100

Equipment leasing 
company – (162) (168)

South African Coal 
Mining Operations 
Proprietary Limited 100 100

Mine operating 
company – (1 926) 635

Umlabu Colliery 
Proprietary Limited 100 100 Holder of mining right – (7 147) (94 840)

Voorslag Coal Handling 
Proprietary Limited 100 100

Siding operating 
company – – (29)

Yomhlaba Coal 
Proprietary Limited 100 100 Dormant – – –

The carrying values of all investments have been impaired in full.
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9. GROUP LOANS

  2014 2013
Amounts owing by group companies R’000 R’000

Company    
SACMH (Breyten) Proprietary Limited 111 545 111 545
South African Coal Mining Operations Proprietary Limited 5 151 3 303
Yomhlaba Coal Proprietary Limited 33 365 33 365
Umlabu Colliery Proprietary Limited 4 921 4 921

  154 982 153 134

Less: Impairments (149 831) (149 831)

Total 5 151 3 303

These loans are unsecured, interest free and are repayable on demand. 

The carrying value of group loans is considered to approximate fair value, due to the nature of the loans and 
the loans’ terms.

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

  2014 2013
Group R’000 R’000

Trade and other receivables 11 527 14 265
Less: Provision for bad debts (7 258) (7 658)
Deposits 66 785
VAT receivable 510 107

  4 845 7 499

Trade receivables disclosed above are considered to be fairly valued, due to the short-term nature thereof.

The average credit period on leasing revenue is 30 days. No interest is charged on trade receivables. The Group 
has recognised an allowance for doubtful debts of 100% against receivables over 120 days. Allowances for 
doubtful debts are recognised against trade receivables between 60 days and 120 days based on estimated 
irrecoverable amounts determined by reference to past default experience of the counterparty and an analysis 
of the counterparty’s current financial position. Refer to note 22.2 for further disclosures on trade receivables 
and impairments.

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

  2014 2013
Group R’000 R’000

Bank balance 3 345 3 952

  3 345 3 952

Due to the short-term nature of cash and cash equivalents the carrying amount is deemed to approximate 
the fair value.

The credit quality of the Group’s financial service provider is evaluated as good, as the group banks with a 
major South African financial service provider.
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12. SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM (Group and Company)

  2014 2013
Authorised R’000 R’000

700 000 000 ordinary shares of R0.10 each 70 000 70 000

Issued    
452 454 204 ordinary shares of R0.10 each 45 246 45 246
Share premium 188 639 188 639

  233 885 233 885

The shareholders are requested to place the unissued share capital under the control of the directors at each 
Annual General Meeting. 

13. SHAREHOLDERS’ LOANS

  2014 2013
  R’000 R’000

Group    

Long-term loan – JSW Energy Natural Resources South Africa 
Proprietary Limited – –

Loan from JSW Energy Natural Resources South Africa 343 247 284 247

Proprietary Limited to SACM (Breyten) Proprietary Limited carried interest at the 
three-month LIBOR rate and at a fixed spread of 2.5%. The capital sum as well 
as the accrued interest is repayable on 23 July 2017. Currency for this loan is 
US Dollar 133 724 114 272

Loan from JSW Energy Natural Resources South Africa Proprietary Limited 
to South African Coal Mining Holding Limited, which carried interest at the 
one-month LIBOR rate and at a fixed spread of 2.5%. Interest is repayable on 
the last business day of each calendar month and the capital is repayable on 
17 December 2017. Currency for this loan is US Dollar 21 722 19 874

Loan from Mainsail Trading 55 Proprietary Limited to South African Coal Mining 
Holding Limited agreed to advance working capital to a maximum capital 
amount of R17.5 million. The loan attracts interest a variable prime interest rate 
and is repayable when South African Coal Mining Holding Limited raises money 
through rights issue or loan extended by South African Coal Mine Holding 
Limited current financial service provider, Standard Bank, whichever is earlier. – –

Total 498 693 418 395

Company    

The applicable loans for SACMH are as follows:    
JSW Energy Natural Resources South Africa Proprietary    
Limited loan (refer to terms above) 133 724  114 274 
Mainsail Trading 55 Proprietary Limited loan (refer to terms above) 21 722  19 874 

Total 155 446 134 148

The movement in the loan from JSW Energy Natural Resources South Africa Proprietary Limited relates to a 
repayment of R5 million, foreign exchange differences of R75.575 million (2013: R 61.244 million) and interest 
of R7.875 million. The foreign exchange loss is as a result of the revaluation of the US Dollar loan value at the 
closing exchange rate at year-end.

The movement in the loan from Mainsail Trading 55 Proprietary Limited relates to interest accrued of 
R1.848 million.
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14. NON-CURRENT PROVISION

  2014 2013
  R’000 R’000

Group    
Balance at 1 January 44 286 44 286
Change in provision for the year 2 290 –

Total 46 576 44 286

15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

  2014 2013 
  R’000 R’000

Group    
Trade and other payables 2 676 2 047
Expense accruals 225 61
Leave pay 408 330

  3 309 2 438

Company    
Trade and other payables 51 51
     

  51 51

Trade and other payables will be paid within 12 months, no interest is levied on late payments and therefor 
discounting has not been taken into consideration. The carrying value of trade and other payables is 
considered to approximate fair value due to the short-term nature thereof.

16. REVENUE

  2014 2013
  R’000 R’000

Group    
Major classes of revenue comprise:    
Leasing income 42 595 23 180

  42 595 23 180

Due to the suspension of mining activities the Group has explored other revenue generating opportunities of 
which leasing of mine assets and railage allocation assets comprised most of the revenue.

17. IMPAIRMENT REVERSED/(IMPAIRMENT) OF ASSETS

  2014 2013

Group    
Impairment of intangible assets (53 510) (115 350)

Company    
Reversal of impairment of group loans –  18 552
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18. OPERATING (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE FINANCE COSTS AND TAXATION

  2014 2013
Group R’000 R’000

Operating loss for the year has been arrived at after:    
Auditors’ remuneration – audit fees 614 416
Employee costs – short-term 5 447 6 413
Foreign exchange losses/(gains)    
 Loans 75 575 61 244

Directors’ fees    
VP Garg – –
PP Menon  – –
QMSM Mokoetle 238 170

Directors’ salary    
DGA Miller 693 1 514

Total directors’ fees 931 1 684

Prescribed officer’s remuneration    
R Hugo 1 410 1 316
P Smit 424 432

Total 1 834 1 748

Company    
Audit fees – –

19. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

  2014 2013

  R’000 R’000

Group    
Finance income    
 Bank 28 2
Finance costs    
 Bank – (8)
 JSW Energy Natural Resources South Africa Proprietary Limited  (7 874) (7 393)
 SARS (185)  (2 140) 
 Mainsail Trading 55 Proprietary Limited (1 848) (1 695)

  (9 907) (11 236)

Company    
Finance costs    
 JSW Energy Natural Resources South Africa Proprietary Limited (2 048) (2 010)
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20. LOSS PER SHARE

  2014 2013
  R’000 R’000

Group    
Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders (79 254) (159 804)
Weighted average number of shares in issue (’000) 452 454 452 454
Basic loss per share (cents) (17.51) (35.32)

Diluted average number of shares (’000) 452 454 452 454
Diluted loss per share (cents) (17.51) (35.32)

Headline earnings reconciliation:    
Basic earnings loss (79 254) (159 804)
Adjusted for: 53 510 115 350
Impairment of mining right  (14 983) (32 298)
Tax effect of impairment of mining right   (800)

Headline loss (40 727) (77 552)

Weighted average shares in issue for the year (‘000) 452 454 452 454
Diluted average shares in issue (‘000) 452 454 452 454

Headline loss per share (cents) (9.00) (17.14)
Headline diluted loss per share (cents) (9.00) (17.14)

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Categories of financial instruments

  Available-      
  for-sale      
  financial Loans and    
  assets receivables Total Fair value*
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Group        
Financial assets        
2014        
Investments (see note 8) 50 500 –  50 500 50 500
Trade receivables (see note 10) –  4 335 4 845 4 845
Cash and cash equivalents (see note 11) –  3 345 3 345 3 345

  50 500 8 190 58 690 58 690

2013        
Investments (see note 8) 50 500 – 50 500 50 500
Trade receivables (see note 10) – 6 607 7 499 7 499
Cash and cash equivalents (see note 11) – 3 952 3 952 3 952

  50 500 10 559 61 951 61 951

Company        
Financial assets        
2014        
Investments (see note 8) 50 500 –  50 500 50 500
Group loans (see note 9) –  5 151 5 151 5 151

  50 500 5 151 55 651 55 651

2013        
Investments (see note 8) 50 500 – 50 500 50 500
Group loans (see note 9) –  3 303 3 303 3 303

  50 500 3 303 53 803 53 803

*See all note references for detail on the fair value of the financial assets.
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Amortised 

costs Total
  R’00 R’000

Group    
Financial liabilities    
2014    
Trade and other payables  3 309 3 309
Shareholders’ loans 498 693 498 693

  502 002 502 002

Group    
Financial liabilities    
2013    
Short-term borrowings – –
Trade and other payables  2 438 2 438
Shareholders’ loans 418 395 418 395

  420 833 420 833

Company    
2014    
Trade and other payables 51 51
Shareholders’ loan 155 446 155 446

  155 497 155 497

Company    
2013    
Trade and other payables 51 51
Shareholders’ loan 134 148 134 148

  134 199 134 199

22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and 
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s performance. There has been no change in the 
manner in which these risks are managed.

a. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet a financial commitment. The risk is 
minimised through the holdings of cash balances and sufficient available borrowing facilities. In addition 
detailed cash flow forecasts are regularly prepared and reviewed by the Board. The liquidity risk is 
managed through JSW Energy Natural Resources South Africa Proprietary Limited providing financing 
and agreeing not to request repayment of its loans. The following table details the Group’s contractual 
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has been compiled based on the undiscounted 
cash flows of financial liabilities and include both the principal and interest payments. 
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   <1 year 1 – 2 years 2 – 5 years Thereafter Total
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Group          
2014          
Trade and other payables 2 676 – – – 2 676
Shareholders’ loans – – 498 693 – 498 693

  2 676 – 498 693 – 501 369

Group           

2013          
Trade and other payables 2 047 – – – 2 047
Shareholders’ loans – – 418 395 – 418 395

  2 047 – 418 395 – 420 442

Company          

2014          
Trade and other payables – 51 – – 51
Shareholders’ loans – – 155 446 – 155 446

  – 51 155 446 – 155 497

Company          

2013          
Trade and other payables 51 – – – 51
Shareholders’ loans – – 134 148 – 134 148

  51 – 134 148 – 134 199

b. Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial 
loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and 
obtaining sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from 
defaults. The Group only transacts with entities that are rated the equivalent of investment grade and 
above.

This information is supplied by independent rating agencies where available and, if not available, the 
Group uses other publicly available financial information and its own trading records to rate its customers. 
The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the 
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure 
is controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved by management annually.

Trade receivables disclosed include amounts (see below for age analysis) that are past due at the end of 
the reporting period but against which the Group has recognised an allowance for doubtful receivables 
on the receivables past due more than 90 days, because there has not been a significant change in 
credit quality and the amount is considered unrecoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral 
or other credit enhancements over these balances nor does it have a legal right of offset against any 
amounts owed by the Group to the counterparty.
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The maximum credit exposure for trade and other receivables are:

 
Gross 

amount Impairment
Gross 

amount Impairment
  2014 2014 2013 2013
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Ageing of trade and other receivables        
Not past due 2 504  –  4 167 –
Past due 0 – 30 days 1 765  –  2 456 –
Past due 30 – 90 days –  –  384 –
Past due more than 90 days 7 258 (7 258) 7 658 (7 658)

  11 527  (7 258) 14 265 (7 658)

All past due amounts are reviewed on an individual basis to determine whether any impairment is 
necessary.

Impairment of trade and other receivables:

  2014 2013
  R’000 R’000

Balance at the beginning of the year (7 658) (7 658)
Included in the statement of comprehensive income 400 –

Balance at end of the year (7 258) (7 658)

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit 
quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting 
period. 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables. The Group’s exposure to 
credit risk is continuously monitored with exposure being controlled by credit limits that are reviewed and 
approved by the Board. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of customers.

The table below sets out the credit limit of the customers representing more than 5% of the total balance 
at year-end:

  2014   2013  
  Credit Carrying Credit Carrying 
  limit amount limited amount
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Customer        
HMS  3 000 000 1 760 665 – –
Barberry Rail Management 3 000 000 1 843 743 – –
EPA – – 3 400 000 3 098 193

Total 6 000 000 3 604 408 3 400 000 3 098 193

The average credit provided to customers is 30 days from statement. No interest is charged on the trade 
receivables.

There is no credit risk associated with Group loans as the loans are within the group and all the companies 
are under the control of the same directors.
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c. Market risk

i. Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising mainly from the 
US dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises from commercial transactions and recognised assets and 
liabilities.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the Rand 
against the relevant USD foreign currency on profit and loss:

  2014 2013
  R’000 R’000

Sensitivity analysis    
Profit and loss    
USD 10% up 47 697 39 852
USD 10% down (47 697) (39 852)

  Rate at  
Currency analysis year-end Average rate

2014 – US Dollar $1: R11.69 $1: R11.62
2013 – US Dollar $1: R10.67 $1: R10.48

ii. Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk because entities in the Group borrow funds at floating 
interest rates. The risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed 
and floating rate borrowings.

  2014 2013
  R’000 R’000

Financial liabilities    
Variable interest rate borrowings (repayable) 498 693 418 395

  498 693 418 395

A 1% movement in the LIBOR rate will have a R0.2 million (2013: R1.12 million)   effect on the 
Group’s interest charge/operating income.

d.  Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholder and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain 
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings (excluding derivative 
financial liabilities) disclosed in note 13, cash and cash equivalents disclosed in note 11, and equity as 
disclosed in the statement of financial position.

The Group’s shareholder, JSW Energy Natural Resources South Africa Proprietary Limited Energy India, 
has undertaken not to accept repayment of its loans until such time as the Group’s assets, fairly valued, 
exceed its liabilities to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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23. RELATED PARTIES

Identity of related parties

The Group has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries. Key management personnel have been defined 
as the Executive and Non-executive Directors of the Group, as well as other employees with significant roles. 
The definition of key management includes the close members of family of key management personnel 
and any other entity over which key management exercises control. Close members of family are those 
family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by that individual in their dealings with 
the Group. They may include the individual’s domestic partner and children, the children of the individual’s 
domestic partner, and dependants of the individual or the individual’s domestic partner. Key management are 
identified as the directors and prescribed officers.

Transactions between the subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Group, have been eliminated on 
consolidation and not disclosed in this note.

Please refer to directors’ emoluments on page 23.

a. Trading transactions

During the year, Group entities entered into the following trading transactions with related parties that are 
not members of the Group: 

  2014 2013
  R’000 R’000

Interest accrued    
 Mainsail Trading 55 Proprietary Limited 1 848 1 695
 JSW Energy Natural Resources South Africa Proprietary Limited 7 875 7 393

b. Loans from related parties

Group    
Shareholders’ loans:    
Mainsail Trading 55 Proprietary Limited 21 722 19 874
JSW Energy Natural Resources South Africa Proprietary Limited 476 971 398 521

Loan repayment    

JSW Energy Natural Resources South Africa Proprietary Limited (5 000) –

Company    

Mainsail Trading 55 Proprietary Limited 21 722 19 874
JSW Energy Natural Resources South Africa Proprietary Limited 133 724 114 273

Inter-group transactions with subsidiary companies are predominantly funding related. See notes 8 and 
12 for balances at year-end.



55

24. NOTES TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Cash generated by/(utilised in) operations – Group 

  Group
  2014 2013
  R’000 R’000

Loss before taxation (147 831) (192 102)
Adjusted for non-cash movements    
Depreciation and amortisation 6 752 8 421
Change in rehabilitation provision 2 290  –
Scrapping of assets 742 –
Gain on sale of assets – (800)
Impairment losses 53 510 115 350
Finance costs 9 907 11 236
Unrealised forex loss 75 575 61 244
Finance income (28) –

  917 3 349

Movements in working capital    
Movements in inventories – 499
Movements in trade and other receivables 2 654 26 213
     

Movements in trade and other payables 978 (29 630)

  4 549 431

25. SHAREHOLDERS

Major shareholders and shareholders’ spread

The following shareholders have a 5% (or more) interest in the issued share capital of the Company as at 
31 December 2014:

  2014   2013  
Shareholder (’000)     (’000)    

Royal Bafokeng Capital Proprietary Limited* 244 583 54.1 244 583 54.1
JSW Energy Natural Resources South Africa 
Proprietary Limited 157 108 34.8 157 108 34.8

  401 691 88.8 401 691 88.8

The following shareholders did not comprise “public shareholders” as at 31 December 2014:

  2014   2013  
  (’000) (%) (’000) (%)

Non-public        
Royal Bafokeng Capital Proprietary Limited* 244 583 (54.1) 244 583 54.1
JSW Energy Natural Resources South Africa        
Proprietary Limited 157 108 34.7 157 108 34.7
Mainsail Trading 55 Proprietary Limited 20 000 4.4 20 000 4.4

  421 691 93.2 421 691 93.2

Public shareholders 30 763 6.8 30 763 6.8

  452 454 100.0 452 454 100.0

*On 1 November 2011, JSW Energy Natural Resources South Africa Proprietary Limited acquired the entire issued share capital of Royal 
Bafokeng Capital Proprietary Limited and Mainsail Trading 55 Proprietary Limited from Royal Bafokeng Holdings resulting in it having an 
effective direct and indirect holding in SACMH of 93.2% of the total issued share capital of the Company.
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Shareholder spread at 31 December 2014

  Number of   Number of Percentage of 
  shares Percentage shareholders total

0 – 1 000 126 213 0.03 452 62.09
1 000 – 10 000 699 806 0.15 198 27.17
10 001 – 100 000 1 095 099 0.47 63 8.65
100 001 – 500 000 1 082 111 0.46 9 1.26
500 001 – 1 000 000 555 179 0.12 1 0.14
1 000 000+ 446 895 796 98.77 5 0.69

  452 454 204 100.00 728  100.00

Shareholder spread at 31 December 2013

  Number of   Number of Percentage of 
  shares Percentage shareholders total

0 – 1 000 114 763 0.02 437 60.95
1 000 – 10 000 683 694 0.14 204 28.45
10 001 – 100 000 1 860 882 0.42 61 8.51
100 001 – 500 000 2 343 890 0.53 9 1.26
500 001 – 1 000 000 555 179 0.12 1 0.14
1 000 000+ 446 895 796 98.77 5 0.69

  452 454 204 100.00 717 100.00

Interests of directors

No directors held direct, indirect or deemed interests in the issued share capital of the Company at 
31 December 2014 (2012: Nil).

No directors have traded in shares from 31 December 2014 up until the issue of the Integrated Annual 
Report 2014.
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RESOURCES AND RESERVES STATEMENT

The resources 10.4 Mt of coal classified as proven and probable reserves in the integrated annual report for the 
year ended 31 December 2013 and provisional results released on 18 June 2015 where it was stated that no 
change to the estimate reserves and resource has taken place, at the time of the report, the coal could not be 
economically extracted and therefore the measured and indicated coal resources that were previously converted 
to reserve, have to remain as resources. These reserves have therefore been re-classified as resources. An update 
to the Competent Persons Report has been received from Mr Leon Raaths which are set out below:

This letter serves to clarify and confirm that as per the update report on the resource and reserves estimates, that 
was compiled by K Black with inputs from L Raaths, that there were no material changes on the resources. As 
stated in the report, there were material changes to the reserves of Umlabu Colliery. This was mainly due to the 
current market factors that impacted on the economical extraction of all mineral resources. All previous mineable 
reserves were moved out of the reserve category and is reflected under resources. Economical valuation was 
done internally by SACMH, these models were not made available to the CP’s, only the outcome thereof.

Since the report dated 3 June stating the Resources and Reserves for Umlabu Colliery as at 31 December 2014, 
no mining activities was conducted at the colliery. The resources and reserves for Umlabu Colliery as of 
10 November 2015 remains unchanged from the 31 December 2014 position.

10 November 2015

Mr L Raaths
BTech Mining, BSc (Operations Research), MBL
Director
Miptech Consulting (Pty) Ltd. 

Introduction

Miptec Proprietary Limited (“Miptec”) and KJB GeoServices (“KJB”), were jointly contracted by South African Coal 
Mining Holdings Limited (“SACMH”) to produce an updated resource and reserve estimate of the Company’s coal 
assets as at 31 December 2014. Both Miptec and KJB operate as independent technical consultants to SACMH, 
and neither company has any interest in SACMH or the coal assets reviewed. Both Miptec and KJB will receive a 
consulting fee for the generation of this update report.

The initial resource and reserve estimates have been prepared in accordance with the South African Code for 
Reporting of Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves, commonly referred to as the SAMREC Code. In accordance 
with the contents of the SAMREC Code, the latest resource update has been prepared under the direction of a 
Competent Person. This document serves as an update to the latest CPR Report compiled by SRK in 2012.

Update 2014 financial year

During the 2014 fiscal year, no mining or exploration activities took place on any one of the SACMH properties. 
As at November 2012, all mining activities ceased on the Mooifontein Underground Mine (the only operating mine 
at the time), and a retrenchment process followed, whereby only key mine personnel were retained in order to 
manage the ongoing rehabilitation and the upkeep of the existing infrastructure.

During the 2014 financial year, no discards were processed through the plant as the yields obtained in the previous 
year were too low to warrant continuing. Due to the realised yields during the 2013 financial year, as well as the 
fact that the discards have not been sampled and analysed, it was decided that they would not be included in 
the resource update below.

As at the time of this report, the water use licence was still awaiting approval. 

Property

The Umlabu coal resource is situated within the Ermelo coalfield, where all of the coal seams occur within the 
Vryheid Formation of the Ecca Group (Karoo Supeergroup). During the year under review no exploration or 
drilling was undertaken. Geological modelling has been conducted across the project area. All holes used in 
the model were validated against the available wireline logs and core photographs. Validations confirming the 
seam thicknesses, depth to seam roof and floor as well as checks to confirm the correct seam correlations were 
conducted. The collar elevations of the holes were checked for correctness against a valid Digital Terrain Model. 
The coal qualities were verified using industry accepted standard verification routines before inclusion into the 
quality model. The estimates contained within the January 2014 resource statement were based on this geological 
model. As there has been no activity during 2013 – 2014 year, there was no need to update the geological 
model. As such, the resources have remain unchanged, with the exception that the resources contain within the 
Sterkfontein Prospecting area were removed, as this licence was still pending at the time of this report.
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Figure 1 Location of the SACMH Resource Areas. 

The resource update covers the new order mining right MP30/5/1/212169, which is valid until 25 July 2027, and 
covers:

1. Mooifontein Underground – remainder of Portion 1 of Mooifontein 109 IT

2. Voorslag Underground – Portion 10 (a portion of Portion 5) of Voorslag 274 IS, the remainder of 
Portion 5 (a portion of Portion 2) of Voorslag 274 IS, and Portion 2 of Sterkfontein 242 IS

3. Vlakfontein Opencast – remainder of Portion 6 (apportion of Portion5) of Vlakfontein

4. Voorslag Opencast – Portion 10 (a portion of Portion 5) of Voorslag 274 IS, the remainder of Portion 5 (a portion 
of Portion 2) of Voorslag 274 IS, and Portion 2 of Sterkfontein 242 IS

Resource and Reserves

Within the Voorslag Mining Right (highlighted in blue above), two potentially exploitable coal measures have been 
identified, namely the B Seam and C Seam, which split into the C Upper and C Lower Seams. It is currently 
planned that where the B Seam is located close to the surface it will be opencast, and where he seam is deeper, it 
will be mined by underground methods. The C Lower and C Upper Seams will be exploited by opencast methods 
with engineering studies being undertaken to determine the economic extract of the C Seams by underground 
methods. Within the Mooifontein area, the B Seam was mined out using the underground board and pillar extraction 
method, and within the Vlakfontein area, C Upper and C Lower seams were mined out by opencast mining.
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Figure 2. A simplified stratigraphic column of the Ermelo Coalfield

Due to the fact that no mining activities took place during 2013 – 2014 fiscal year, there is no material change in 
the Resource Estimates. The GTIS remains unchanged at 32.5 Mt. However, due to prevailing market conditions, 
it has been decided that at this point in time, the resources cannot be converted to Reserves.

The following criteria were used to define the seam limits for the reporting of GTIS resources:

• A minimum of 0.5 seam thickness
• A geological loss factor of 8%
• A minimum raw calorific value (CV) of 12 MJ/Kg and volatile matter (VM) of 18%
• Unweathered coal only
• Resource estimated within the tenure boundary.
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Table 1: Resource Estimate for the Mining Licence area 

As can be seen in the table below, none of the resources have been converted to reserves. Although the majority 
of the modifying factors as details in Figure 3 below have been met, at the time of this report, the coal could not be 
economically extracted, and therefore the measured and indicated coal resources that were previously converted 
to reserves have to remain as resources. In the 2014 update, 10.4 Mt of coal was classified as both Proven and 
Probable Reserves.

Figure 3: Relationship between Coal Resources and Coal Reserves as per the Samrec guidelines 

  GTIS (Resource) TTIS (Resource)

  Measured Indicated Inferred Total Measured Indicated Inferred Total
Mining Area Mt Mt Mt Mt Mt Mt Mt Mt

Voorslag 
Underground 15.30 8.20 3.10 26.60 14.08 7.54 2.85 24.47
Mooifontein 4.82 0.35 0.73 5.91 4.43 0.32 0.67 5.44
Underground – – – – – – – –
Vlakfontein 
Opencast – – – – – – – –

Total 20.12 8.55 3.83 32.51 18.51 7.86 3.52 29.91
* All Resources are quoted on an air dried moisture basis

Table 2: Updated Reserves 

  Reserve Saleable

  Proven Probable Total  
Mining Area Mt Mt Mt Mt

Mooifontein Underground – – – –
Voorslag Underground – – – –
Vlakfontein Opencast – – – –
Voorslag Opencast – – – –

Total – – – –
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Comments

The fact the resources were not converted to reserves for this update is due to a number of factors. The start-up 
of the planned Voorslag underground (9.39 Mt) and opencast (1.11 Mt) mines in 2012 was dependent on the 
approval of the water use licence, which at the time of this report, is still outstanding.

Contractors cost have escalated substantially, and this paired with a difficult export market has rendered the 
extraction of the resource uneconomical at this stage.

As well as the cost factor, the sulphur content of the coal is relatively high and requires blending with a low sulphur 
coal in order to bring it to within acceptable standards for export through the Richards Bay Coal Terminal (RBCT). 
In order to eliminate this problem a supplier of low sulphur coal will have to be identified and secured, in order to 
consider producing an export product again.

As per the comments above at the time of this report, it could not be demonstrated that the economic extraction 
and marketing of products is reasonably justified. This is not to say that should global economics change, that in 
the future, this resource may once again be converted to a mineable reserve.

Key technical staff

Katherine Black is designated as the Competent Person regarding the coal resources outlined in this report. 
Katherine Black is a member in good standing of the South African Council for Natural Scientific Professions 
(SACNASP No. 400295/12).

MJB GeoServices – 60 Curvy Road, Blairgowrie, Johannesburg

Leonaard Raaths compiled the reserve estimation for SACMH on Umlabu Colliery. He is a member of SACMA 
and SAIMM. Leonard Raaths compiled the Life of Mine Plan for Umlabu during 2012 and was responsible for 
subsequent updates.

Miptec Proprietary Limited – 19 Jan Frederik Street, Reyno Ridge, Witbank

Competent Person’s Statement

1. CPR Background

The resource estimation update for South African Coal Mining Holdings Limited (SACMH), effective 
31 December 2014, has been compiled by Katherine Black of KJB GeoServices (KJB). Ms Black has eight 
years’ experience relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration, and to 
the activity which she is undertaking, to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the SAMREC Code. 
Ms Black is therefore familiar with the SAMREC Code and the South African coal specific reporting code 
namely SANS 10320:2003.

Ms Black has a BSc (Hons) Geology from the University of KwaZulu-Natal, and a Graduate Diploma in Engineering 
(Chemical and Metallurgical Engineering) from the University of the Witwatersrand. Ms Black is registered as 
a Professional Natural Scientist in the field of Geological Science with the South African Council for Natural 
Scientific Professions (SACNASP) registration number 400295/12, and is a member in good standing with the 
Geological Society of South Africa (GSSA). Ms Black resides at 60 Curvy Road, Johannesburg.

KJB GeoServices operates as an independent technical advisor and consultant providing Mineral Resource 
evaluation services to the mining industry, including the design and management of drilling programmes, 
database management, geological modelling and resource evaluations. KJB GeoServices has received 
professional fees for the preparation of the updated resource statement. Neither KJB GeoServices, nor any 
of its staff have any material interest in SACMH or the assets under consideration.

2. Date

The Resource update is based on borehole information supplied by SACMH in 2012, and the resultant 
geological model. No further drilling has taken place since the initial compilation of the model; the only 
updates to the model being those due to updates obtained from the mine surveyor and planning engineer in 
terms of survey information and mined out areas.

This update is dated 31 December 2014.
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3. Interest of Competent Person

KJB GeoServices is an independent Geological Consultancy which consults to a number of coal companies 
in both South Africa and neighbouring countries. KJB will be paid a normal consulting fee for the generation 
of the resource update. KJB has provided previous consulting to SACMH on a fee basis. Neither KJB nor any 
of its staff have any material interest in SACMH or any of its assets under consideration.

4. Compliance

Independence is assured by the fact that neither the Competent Person nor KJB GeoServices hold any 
equity in SACH, or have a direct or indirect interest in Umlabu Colliery. Fees for the preparation of the updated 
resource estimation are charged at standard consulting rates, with expenses reimbursed at cost. Payment of 
fees is in no way dependent of the outcome or conclusions drawn from the update.

The update was prepared for the exclusive use of SACMH on the basis of instruction, information and data 
supplied by them. No warranty or guarantee, whether expressed or implied, is made by KJB with respect 
to the completeness or accuracy of any aspect of this document and no party, other than the Client, is 
authorised to or should place any reliance whatsoever on the whole or any part or parts of the document. 
KJB does not undertake or accept any responsibility or liability in any way whatsoever to any person or entity 
in respect of the whole or any part or parts of this document, or any errors in or omissions from it, whether 
arising from negligence or any other basis in law whatsoever.

5. Samrec Codes

This resource update has been prepared in accordance with the guidelines stipulated in the SAMREC Code, 
with reference made to SANS 10320;2003, the South African Guide to the systematic evaluation of coal 
resources and coal reserves.

6. Statement

I, Katherine Black, confirm that:

• I have read and understood the requirements of the South African Code for the reporting of Exploration 
Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves (the SAMREC Code); and

• I am a Competent Person as defined by the 2009 SAMREC Code, having eight years’ experience which 
is relevant to the style of mineralisation.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

SOUTH AFRICAN COAL MINING HOLDINGS LIMITED
Registration number 1994/009012/06
Share code: SAH     ISIN: ZAE000102034

Record date for voting purposes: 10:00 on Monday, 4 January 2016

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of shareholders of the Company will be held on 1st Floor, 
198 Oxford Road, Illovo, Sandton on Thursday, 14 January 2016 at 10:00, for the following purposes:

1. To receive, consider and adopt the annual financial statements for the twelve months ended 31 December 
2014 of the Company and the Group, together with the directors’ and independent auditors’ reports.

Ordinary Resolution Number One: Appointment of Directors

2. To re-elect Messrs K Ashraff,  MCH Dhlamini, KG Harris, LR Mamba, JM Mokgokong and CP Tated who were 
appointed since the last annual general meeting and who, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election in 
accordance with the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation.

Seperate resolutions will be proposed for each of these re-elections.

Directors’ curriculum vitae are available on page 5 of this report

Ordinary Resolution Number Two: Appointment of Audit and Risk Committee 

3. “Resolved that the directors of the Company are hereby authorised to appoint an Audit Committee namely, 
K Ashraff, MCH Dhlamini and JM Mokgokong in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, No 72 of 2008 
(“Companies Act”).”

Special Resolution Number One: Non-executive Directors’ remuneration

4. “Resolved that, for the year ending 31 December 2015 until the next Annual General Meeting that the Non-
executive Directors be remunerated as follows:

Board Annual
Per 

meeting

Chairman R130 000 R10 000
Member R104 000 R7 500

Audit and Risk Committee    
Chairman R30 000 R10 000
Member R17 500 R7 500

Other committees    
Chairman R13 000 R5 000
Member R9 750 R3 500

Ordinary Resolution Number Three: Control of authorised but unissued share capital

5. “Resolved that the authorised but unissued shares in the capital of the Company be and are hereby placed 
under the control of the directors of the Company, until the next Annual General Meeting, to enable them 
to allot and issue such ordinary shares at their discretion subject to the provisions of the Companies Act 
2008, the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (“JSE 
Listings Requirements”).”
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Special Resolution Number Two: Authority to render financial assistance to group companies

6. “Resolved that the Board (or any person/s authorised by the Board to do so), as it in its discretion thinks 
fit but subject to the provisions of section 45 of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, is 
hereby authorised to provide director or indirect financial assistance as contemplated in section 45 to any of 
its present or future subsidiaries and/or any juristic person that the Company directly or indirectly controls, for 
any purpose in the normal scope of the business of the SACMH Group.”

Before making any such financial assistance available, the Board will satisfy itself that:

• immediately after providing the financial assistance, the Company will satisfy the solvency and liquidity 
test; and

• the terms under which the financial assistance is proposed to be given are fair and reasonable to the 
Company.

The authority granted to the Board shall remain of full force and effect until the next Annual General Meeting.

Ordinary Resolution Number Four:  Issue of ordinary shares for cash

7. “Resolved that subject to not less than 75% of shareholders, present in person or by proxy and entitled to 
vote at the Annual General Meeting at which this ordinary resolution is considered, excluding the controlling 
shareholder together with their associates voting in favour thereof the directors of the Company be and are 
hereby authorised, by way of general authority, to issue all or any of the authorised but unissued shares 
in the capital of the Company for cash as they in their discretion deem fit, but subject to the Company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation, the provisions of the Companies Act, as amended, and the JSE Listings 
Requirements, when applicable, and provided that:

• the securities must be of a class already in issue, or, where this is not the case, must be limited to such 
securities or rights that are convertible into a class already in issue;

• the securities must be issued to public shareholders as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements and not 
to related parties, unless the JSE Limited otherwise agrees;

• the general issue of shares for cash in the aggregate in any one financial year may not exceed 15% of the 
Company’s issued share capital of that class, as set out in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements;

• the maximum discount at which securities may be issued is 10% of the weighted average traded price of 
those securities over the 30 business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed between 
the Company and the person subscribing for the securities;

• after the Company has issued securities representing, on a cumulative basis with a financial year, 5% or 
more of the number of securities in issue prior to that issue, the Company shall publish an announcement 
containing full details of the issue, including the effect of the issue on net asset value and earnings per share;

• the shareholders of the Company hereby waive their pre-emptive rights to the shares to be issued shares 
for cash in terms of this authority; and

• this authority shall not be extended beyond 15 months from the date of this resolution, or the next Annual 
General Meeting, whichever is the earlier date.”

Ordinary Resolution Number Five: Advisory endorsement of remuneration policy

8. “Resolved that the Company’s remuneration policy as set out on page 13 of the integrated annual report 
(excluding the remuneration of Non-executive Directors for their services as directors and members of the 
Board committees), be endorsed on an advisory basis.”

Motivation

In terms of the King Code of Governance Principles for South Africa, 2008, an advisory vote should be 
obtained from shareholders on the Company’s annual remuneration policy. The vote allows shareholders to 
express their view on the remuneration policies adopted and their implementation but will not be binding on 
the Company.
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Ordinary Resolution Number Six: Authority to action all ordinary and special resolutions

9. “Resolved that any one director of the Company or the Company Secretary be and is hereby authorised to 
all such things as are necessary and to sign all such documents issued by the Company as to give effect to 
special resolutions number one, two and three and ordinary resolutions numbers one to six.”

By order of the Board

Mrs PF Smit
Company Secretary
1st Floor, Oxford Muse, 198 Oxford Road, Illovo, Sandton, 2196

10 November 2015
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APPENDIX TO THE NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

GENERAL INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY TO SUPPORT THE RESOLUTIONS 
PROPOSED IN THE NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The JSE Listings Requirements require the following disclosure, some of which are elsewhere in the annual report 
of which this notice forms part as set out below:

• Directors and management – page 71
• Major shareholders of the Company – page 55
• Directors’ interests in securities – page 56
• Share capital of the Company – page 46

Statement by the Company’s Board of Directors in respect of repurchases of shares and payments to 
shareholders

Pursuant to and in terms of the JSE Limited Listings Requirements, the directors of the Company hereby state that:

1. the intention of the directors is to utilise the relevant authority to repurchase shares or make payments to 
shareholders if, at some future date, the cash resources of the Company are in excess of its requirements. 
In this regard the directors will take account of, inter alia, an appropriate capitalisation structure for the 
Company, and will ensure that any such utilisation is in the interests of shareholders; and

2. the method by which the Company intends to make such repurchases or payment and the date on which 
such repurchase or payment will take place has not yet been determined.

The Board of Directors has no immediate intention to use these authorities to repurchase Company shares or make 
payments to shareholders. However, the Board of Directors is of the opinion that this authority should be in place 
should it become appropriate to undertake a share repurchase or make a payment to shareholders in the future.

At the time that the contemplated repurchase or payment is to take place, the directors will ensure that:

1. the Company and its subsidiaries will be able to pay their debts as they become due in the ordinary course 
of business for a period of 12 months after the date of the transaction;

2. the consolidated assets of the Company and its subsidiaries, fairly value in accordance with the accounting policies 
used in the Company’s latest audited Group annual financial statements, will be in excess of the consolidated 
liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries for a period of 12 months after the date of the transaction;

3. the issued share capital and reserves of the Company and its subsidiaries will be adequate for the purposes of 
the business of the Company and its subsidiaries for a period of 12 months after the date of the transaction;

4. the working capital available to the Company and its subsidiaries for a period of 12 months after the date of 
the transaction; and

5. the Company will provide its designated adviser or sponsor and the JSE with all documentation as required in 
schedule 25 of the JSE Listings Requirements, and will not undertake any such repurchase or payment until 
the sponsor has signed off on the adequacy of its working capital, advised the JSE accordingly and the JSE 
has approved this documentation.

Shareholders should note that such payments are payments other than cash dividends paid out of retained 
income, scrip dividends or capitalisation issues.

Litigation statement

There are no legal or arbitration proceedings, either pending or threatened, against the Company or its subsidiaries, 
of which the Company is aware, which may have, or have had in the last 12 months, a material effect on the 
financial position of the Company or its subsidiaries.

Material change

Other than facts and developments reported on in the annual report, there have been no material changes in the affairs 
or financial position of the Company and Group since the date of signature of the audit report and the date of this notice.
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Directors’ responsibility statement

The directors whose names are given on page 5 of the annual report, collectively and individually accept full 
responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in this notice of Annual General Meeting certify that to the 
best of their knowledge and belief there are no facts that have been omitted which would make any statement 
false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that the notice 
contains all information required by Law and the JSE Listings Requirements.

Statement in terms of section 62(3)(e)

Shareholders holding certificated shares and shareholders holding shares in dematerialised form in “own name”:

• may attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting; alternatively; and
• may appoint an individual as proxy (who need not also be a shareholder of the Company) to attend, participate 

in and speak and vote in your place at the Annual General Meeting by completing the attached form of proxy and 
returning it to the registered office of the transfer secretaries by no later than 10:00 on Tuesday, 12 January 2016. 
Alternately, the form of proxy may be handed to the Chairman of the general meeting at any time prior to the 
commencement of the general meeting. Please note that your proxy may delegate his/her authority to act on 
your behalf to another person, subject to the restrictions set out in the attached form of proxy. Please also note 
that the attached form of proxy must be delivered to the transfer secretaries or handed to the Chairman of the 
Annual General Meeting, before your proxy may exercise any of your rights as a shareholder of the Company 
at the general meeting.

Please note that any shareholder of the Company that is a company may authorise any person to act as 
its representative at the Annual General Meeting. Please also note that section 63(1) of the Companies Act 
requires that persons wishing to participate in the Annual General Meeting (including the aforementioned 
representative) may provide satisfactory identification before they may so participate.

Notice to owners of dematerialised shares

Please note that if you are the owner of dematerialised shares held through a CSDP or broker (or their nominee) 
and are not registered as an “own name” dematerialised shareholder then you are not a registered shareholder of 
the Company, but your CSDP or broker (or their nominee) would be.

Accordingly, in these circumstances, subject to the mandate between yourself and your CSDP or broker, as the 
case may be:

• if you wish to attend the Annual General Meeting you must contact your CSDP or broker and obtain the 
relevant letter of representation from it; alternatively

• if you are unable to attend the Annual General Meeting but wish to be represented at the Annual General 
Meeting, you must contact your CSDP or broker, and furnish it with your voting instructions in respect of 
the general meeting and/or request it to appoint a proxy. You must not complete the attached form of proxy. 
The  instructions must be provided in accordance with the mandate between yourself and your CSDP or 
broker, within the time period required by your CSDP or broker.

CSDPs, brokers or their nominees, as the case may be, recorded in the Company’s register as holders of 
dematerialised shares should, when authorised in terms of their mandate or instructed to so be the owner on 
behalf of whom they hold dematerialised shares, vote by either appointing a duly authorised representative to 
attend and vote at the general meeting or by completing the attached form of proxy in accordance with the 
instructions thereon and returning it to the transfer secretaries by no later than 10:00 on Tuesday, 12 January 2016. 
Alternatively, the form of proxy may be handed to the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting at any time prior to 
the commencement of the general meeting.

Voting at the general meeting

In order to more effectively record the votes and give effect to the intentions of shareholders, voting on all resolutions 
will be conducted by way of a poll.
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    For Against Abstain
  Ordinary Resolution Number 1: Re-appointment of directors      
1 Re-appointment of Mr K Ashraff  as a director of the Company      
  Re-appointment of Mr MCH Dhlamini as a director of the 

Company
     

  Re-appointment of Mr KG Harris as a director of the Company      
  Re-appointment of Mr JM Mokgokong as a director of the 

Company
     

  Re-appointment of Mr CP Tated as a director of the Company      
  Re-appointment of Mr LR Mamba as a director of the 

Company
     

2 Ordinary Resolution Number 2 authorising the appointment 
of the following members to the Audit and Risk Committee in 
terms of section 94(2)

     

K Ashraff
MCH Dhlamini
JM Mokgokong

3 Special Resolution Number 1 authorising the directors to 
remunerate Non-executive Directors for services rendered

     

4 Ordinary Resolution Number 3 regarding placing the unissued 
ordinary shares under the directors’ control

     

5 Special Resolution Number 2 approving the rendering of 
financial assistance to group companies

     

6 Ordinary Resolution Number 4 regarding a general authority to 
issue shares for cash

     

7 Ordinary Resolution Number 5 advisory endorsement of 
remuneration policy

     

8 Ordinary Resolution Number 6 authorising any director or the 
Company Secretary to sign documents to effect all the ordinary 
and special resolutions

     

Signed at on this   day of   2016
 

Signature
 

Assisted by me (where applicable)

Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof

FORM OF PROXY

SOUTH AFRICAN COAL MINING HOLDINGS LIMITED
Registration number 1994/009012/06
Share code: SAH  ISIN: ZAE000102034
(“SACMH” or “the Company”)
 
For use ONLY by certificated shareholders and own name dematerialised shareholders at the Annual General 
Meeting of shareholders of SACMH to be held in the Boardroom, 1st Floor, 198 Oxford Road, Illovo at 10:00, 
Thursday, 14 January 2016 (“the Annual General Meeting”).
I/We (full name)
 
Of  address
 
Being the holders/s of  shares in the Company, do hereby appoint (see note 1):
 
1. 
 
2.
 
the chairman of the Annual General Meeting, as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual General 
Meeting of the Company or at any adjournment thereof.
I/We desire to vote as follows:

or failing him/her,

or failing him/her,
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Notes

1. Each shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (none of whom need to be a shareholder of the 
Company) to attend, speak and vote in place of that shareholder at the Annual General Meeting.

2. Shareholder(s) that are certificated or own-name dematerialised shareholders may insert the name of a proxy 
or the names of two alternative proxies of the member’s choice in the space/s provided, with or without 
deleting “the chairman of the meeting”, but any such deletion must be initialled by the shareholder(s). The 
person whose name stands first on the form of proxy and who is present at the general meeting will be 
entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follows. If no proxy is named on a lodged form 
of proxy the chairman shall be deemed to be appointed as proxy.

3. A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the relevant number of votes 
exercisable by the shareholder in the appropriate box provided. Failure to comply with the above will be 
deemed to authorise the proxy, in the case of any proxy other than the chairman, to vote or abstain from 
voting as deemed fit and in the case of the chairman to vote in favour of the resolution.

4. A shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the shareholder, but the total 
of the votes cast or abstained may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable in respect of the shares held 
by the shareholder.

5. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending 
the general meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in 
terms hereof, should such shareholder wish to do so. Where there are joint holders of shares, the vote of the 
first joint holder who tenders a vote, as determined by the order in which the names stand in the register of 
members, will be accepted.

6. The chairman of the Annual General Meeting may reject or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/
or received otherwise than in accordance with these notes, provided that, in respect of acceptances, the 
chairman is satisfied as to the manner in which the shareholder concerned wishes to vote.

7. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a representative 
capacity must be attached to this form of proxy unless previously recorded by the Company or the transfer 
secretaries or waived by the chairman of the general meeting.

8. Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatories.

9. A minor must be assisted by his/her parent/guardian unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal 
capacity are produced or have been registered by the transfer secretaries.

10. Where there are joint holders of any shares, only that holder whose name appears first in the register in 
respect of such shares need sign this form of proxy.

11. Completed forms of proxy must be sent to:

Mailed: Hand delivered:
Computershare Investor Services Computershare Investor Services
Proprietary Limited Proprietary Limited
PO Box 61051 Ground Floor
Marshalltown 70 Marshall Street
2107 Johannesburg, 2001

To be received by no later than 10:00 on Tuesday, 12 January 2016. 
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